Competency-based education in pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences

A FIP handbook to support implementation of competency-based education and training 2022





Colophon

Copyright 2022 International Pharmaceutical Federation (FIP)

International Pharmaceutical Federation (FIP) Andries Bickerweg 5 2517 JP The Hague The Netherlands www.fip.org

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be stored in any retrieval system or transcribed by any form or means – electronic, mechanical, recording, or otherwise without citation of the source. FIP shall not be held liable for any damages incurred resulting from the use of any data and information from this report. All measures have been taken to ensure accuracy of the data and information presented in this report.

Editors:

Dr Naoko Arakawa, Lead for the FIP CBE Implementation Handbook project, Assistant Professor, University of Nottingham, UK

Dr Andries Koster, Associate Professor, Utrecht University, the Netherlands

Dr Dalia Bajis, FIP lead for Provision and Partnerships, The Netherlands

Dr Marwan El Akel, FIP projects manager, workforce development, evidence and Impact, The Netherlands Dr Lina Bader, FIP lead for equity, sustainability policy and development, The Netherlands

The authors thank Aukje Mantel-Teeuwisse (Professor, Utrecht University) and Pascale Salameh (Professor, Lebanese University) for their support.

Cover image: © iStock | istock.com

Recommended citation:

International Pharmaceutical Federation (FIP). Competency-based education in pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences, A FIP handbook to support implementation of competency-based education and training, Version 1, The Hague, FIP, 2022

Contents

Contents		
Forewords	4	
Acknowledgements		
Executive summary		
Chapter 1 Background		
Chapter 2 Competency-based education		
2.1 Health workforce development for the attainment of global health	16	
2.2 Needs-based and competency-based education and training		
2.2.1 Competency-based education: the concept		
2.2.2 CBE and outcome-based education	18	
2.2.2 CBE and outcome based concation	10	
2.2.5 CBL. from micral education to professional development in the context of melong learning	11	
2.5 Educational theories in the context of CBE.	20	
Chapter 3 Global status of CBE in pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education		
3.1 Background	23	
3.2 Methods	23	
2.2.1 Systematic roview	+2 رد	
	24	
3.3.2 Global survey	28	
3.4 Discussion	30	
Chapter 4 Process of CBE implementation		
4.1 Get organised	34	
4.2 Preparation		
4.9 Overarching themes		
4.5 Feedback and assessment	41	
4.6 Course and module design	44	
4.7 Curriculum delivery		
4.8 Setting priorities	48	
Chapter 5 Evaluation of CBE implementation	55	
5.1 Introduction	55	
5.2 Continuous quality improvement	56	
5.2.1 Data gathering	56	
5.2.2 Data analysis and recommendations	57	
5.2.3 Recommendations communicated to	58	
5.2.4 Implementation of recommendations	59	
5.3 Periodical comprehensive evaluation	60	
5.3.1 Self-assessment	61	
5.3.2 Site visit	62	
5.4 Conclusion	62	
Chapter 6 Academic capacity and faculty development	64	
6.1 The need for faculty and preceptor development		
6.2 Training topics	64	
6.3 Preceptor development		
6.4 Implementing training		
6.5 Summary	66	
Chapter 7 Glossary	68	
Appendix	73	

Forewords

It is our privilege to introduce FIP Education's competency-based education implementation handbook. The move towards competency-based education (CBE) in health professional education aligns with the FIP vision to advance pharmacy worldwide through pharmacy and pharmaceutical education. Since 2010, CBE has been the core of the needs-based education model, initially set as a foundation for the FIP Pharmacy Education Action Plan by the WHO-UNESCO-FIP Pharmacy Education Taskforce. FIP has supported pharmacy leaders and educators in their endeavours to embed CBE by developing and publishing tools such as the FIP Global Competency Framework and Global Advanced Development Framework.

This handbook provides step-by-step guidance for educators to implement CBE concepts in their initial pharmacy education and training. It also supports the implementation of CBE concepts in continuing professional development, post-graduate programmes and other lifelong learning settings. The handbook helps to achieve FIP Development Goal 5 (Competency development), with major relevance to Development Goal 1 (Academic capacity). Broad collaboration across FIP constituencies addresses the One FIP vision to ensure relevance to all FIP members and member organisations. The handbook builds on evidence, including a systematic review and a global survey on CBE in pharmacy education. Contributors were sought based on their expertise, their experiences and their passion in their field. Bringing this handbook together, the team also aimed to advocate seamless transitions in the educational cycle of pharmacy and pharmaceutical education from initial education to CPD to lifelong learning. This handbook will guide educators in developing their teams and changing their curricula, and will empower them to deliver successful CBE. The ultimate goal is to help improve the workforce and thus the health of populations across the world.

We have created the vision and the tools to now be One FIP and deliver, through trust and solidarity and with actions, the changes required for the people and societies across our globe. We are convinced that if we continue our efforts towards supporting the transformation and development of pharmacy education globally, we will build a bright future for our profession and patients.



Mr Dominique Jordan, FIP president



Dr Catherine Duggan, FIP chief executive officer

Competency-based Education (CBE) is not universally understood or employed. This CBE implementation handbook provides a much-needed comprehensive resource for learning about CBE and guiding the development and delivery of quality CBE learning programmes. It is based on a few well-known education principles that underpin successful education and training programs, namely:

- The goal is learning not teaching.
- The goal of learning is to develop the ability to perform professional tasks.
- Begin with the end in mind what outcomes must be achieved for the purpose at hand, e.g., education and training to meet societal needs from individual care to improved population-based health.
- Define the competencies needed to achieve these outcomes at various levels of education and training from initial education to early career development, advanced practice mastery and, ultimately, success at life-long learning.
- Design and implement appropriate learning methods and materials to achieve the desired outcomes
- Employ effective evaluation methods to measure success of the CBE programme.
- Use these metrics for continuous improvement.

Educators and trainers would be well-advised to keep a copy of this handbook on their virtual desktop as a go-to resource for developing and implementing a successful CBE programme at any stage of the learning process.



Ralph Altiere, FIPEd chair

The pharmaceutical workforce, along with other key healthcare professions, needs to be strengthened in order to cope with an increasingly high demand of pharmaceutical health needs, and contemporary methods for professional education and training are a critical part of this solution. The challenge for the pharmaceutical workforce is that of progressing and advancing competency and flexibility as pharmaceutical healthcare delivery continues to move towards clinical roles. Provision and delivery of such roles as direct patient counselling, medicines optimisation services, adverse drug focused approaches to CPD and advanced competencies. Pharmacy will increasingly be the principal access route for the public in primary care environments to manage acute and long-term conditions.

Health care workers, particularly in a regulated profession such as ours, should have — and be able to demonstrate — the skills and abilities to cope with the public's health needs and to be better able to apply their practice to improve holistic pharmaceutical patient care.

It is clear that life-long learning and CPD are crucial for foundation and advanced pharmacists to support the workforce needs of the demographic health challenges, and the evolution of new technologies and advanced drug therapies. Our populations have high expectations from us and our training needs must be focused on ensuring we meet these expectations.

I am delighted that FIP continues to focus on needs-based education and training, as evidenced by consistent publications of transnational competency development frameworks that have proven to be invaluable in helping to reshape the global pharmacy workforce. This new handbook is a vital piece of the overall jigsaw of workforce development across our global constituencies. My thanks to the development team for pushing forward on this important document.



Prof. Ian Bates, FRPharmS, FFRPS, FFIP, FRSS, FRSPH Director, FIP Workforce Development Hub Director, FIP Global Observatory The authors address a significant and important development in higher education that is critical for pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education. Competency-based education focuses on the skills and behaviours that learners are expected to have at the end of their training. These competencies will vary largely depending on the licensure requirements of each country or region, the specific degree being pursued (BPharm, MPharm or PharmD), and the practice area desired upon completion of the programme (manufacturing, clinical practice, public health, research etc.).

To better understand the details of how select countries around the globe are applying CBE, a strong background of the pros and cons of CBE and outcomes-based education are provided. Frameworks in the literature designed to guide the learner towards desired competencies are summarised. A systematic review was conducted to assist the reader to compare different practices and approaches to CBE. Furthermore, to help unify the language among professionals around the world, a glossary of terms is used to guide interpretation of the different papers included. To assist with application of CBE, the authors provide a guidance document that takes a stepwise approach to implementing CBE and enumerates the different components in the process that will help ensure a quality process and product. In addition, challenges identified by programmes implementing CBE are listed for potential solutions and considerations. Ultimately the reader is left with resources, tools and a roadmap to follow.

As colleges and schools contemplate the implementation of CBE, it is critical to have a unified set of criteria for countries so that quality can be maintained within the region. As minimum competencies are agreed upon by accrediting bodies, schools, colleges, and faculties can tailor their focus to ensure proper quality. Quality assurance can be obtained through evaluation and assessment of learners and subsequent accomplishment of the predetermined competencies which will eventually lead to the expression of the desired outcomes for the training programme and profession. This is an excellent addition to the body of work from FIP.



Dr Toyin Tofade, MS, PharmD, BCPS, CPCC, FFIP President, FIP Academic Pharmacy Section President and professor, Albany College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences

Acknowledgements

The delivery of this project and publication would not have been possible without the contributions and expertise from the following individuals. The project team thanks the FIP staff, the FIP Academic Pharmacy Section, Academic Institutional Membership, the FIP-Hub (formerly the FIP Workforce Development Hub), and FIP Education (FIPEd) for their support. The team also recognises all the respondents who participated in the global survey on CBE, which supported the development of new evidence related to CBE to advance pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education globally.

FIP CBE implementation handbook project team



Dr Naoko Arakawa

- Project team lead
- Secretary, FIP Academic Pharmacy Section
- Global lead for competency development, FIP Workforce Development Hub
- Assistant professor, University of Nottingham, UK



Dr Andries Koster

- Member of the executive committee and treasurer, European Association of Faculties of Pharmacy
- Associate professor, Utrecht University, the Netherlands



Dr Dalia Bajis

• FIP lead for provision and partnerships, International Pharmaceutical Federation, the Netherlands



Miss Jessica McMullen

• PhD candidate, University of Nottingham, UK



Prof. Claire Anderson

• Professor of social pharmacy, University of Nottingham, UK



Prof. Pierre Moreau

- FIP-AIM chairman
- Professor of pharmacology & therapeutics, College of Pharmacy, Kuwait University, Kuwait



Dr Abby A. Kahaleh

- Global lead for quality assurance, FIP Workforce Development Hub
- Associate editor of the FIP Pharmacy Education journal
- Associate Professor, College of Science, Health & Pharmacy, Roosevelt University, USA



Prof. Abeer M. Al-Ghananeem

- Global lead for quality assurance, FIP Workforce Development Hub
- Professor of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics, associate dean for research, College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences, Sullivan University, USA



Dr Banan Mukhalalati

- Global lead for quality assurance, FIP Workforce Development Hub
- Assistant professor, Clinical Pharmacy and Practice Department, College of Pharmacy, Health Cluster, Qatar University, Qatar



Associate Prof. Kirsten Galbraith

- Associate director and global domain lead for advanced and specialty practice, FIP Workforce Development Hub
- Director, Experiential Development and Graduate Education, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Australia



Dr Shaun Gleason

- Global lead for academic capacity, FIP Workforce Development Hub
- Assistant dean for distance degrees and programmes, associate professor of clinical pharmacy, University of Colorado Skaggs School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences; USA



Prof. Rula Darwish

- Executive committee member, FIP Academic Pharmacy Section
- Global lead for continuing professional development strategies, FIP Workforce
 Development Hub
- CPD Policy Statement revision chair, FIP
- Dean and professor, School of Pharmacy, University of Jordan, Jordan



Prof. Marilyn Morris

- SUNY distinguished professor and chair, School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University at Buffalo, USA
- Expert member, Board of Pharmaceutical Sciences, FIP

FIP staff for the project



Dr Marwan El Akel

• Projects manager — workforce development, evidence and impact, FIP



Dr Lina Bader

• FIP lead for equity, sustainability policy and development, FIP

Executive summary

Health systems require sufficient human resources for health, including a pharmaceutical workforce with the right competencies to meet their demands and the health needs of populations. A competent pharmaceutical workforce is vital to achieve United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 3, to ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages through establishing universal health care across nations. This is aligned with the International Pharmaceutical Federation's (FIP) 21 Development Goals and FIP's needs-based education model, emphasising the need for the development of competencies for provision of patient care and other professional work to serve in local settings. Competency-base education (CBE) is at the core of healthcare professionals' education and training globally.

The implementation of the CBE model in initial pharmacy and pharmaceutical education and training has some challenges. These challenges are often because of the regulation and legislation surrounding the registration of a country's pharmaceutical workforce, less flexible and time-defined higher education settings and training pathways, limited resources and infrastructure and some confusion about the CBE model. It is for these reasons that this handbook has been developed.

The goal of this handbook is to help improve the health of populations across the world through supporting pharmacy leaders and educators in successful CBE implementation to develop better professional development journeys and workforce planning. The handbook is structured to support pharmacy leaders and educators to implement CBE concepts in their initial pharmacy and pharmaceutical education and training. Some examples, educational formats and assessment styles described in the handbook can also be used to support the implementation of CBE concepts in continuing professional development (CPD), postgraduate programmes and other lifelong learning settings. This handbook is a practical, step-by-step guide and a reference for readers to review when they encounter any challenges on their CBE implementation journey.

The handbook was developed based on evidence including a systematic review and a global survey on CBE use in pharmacy and pharmaceutical education. Contributors were sought based on their expertise, their experiences and their passion in the field.

Chapters in the handbook are aligned with a common journey of CBE implementation. This includes: recognition of the CBE concept and understanding of the current situation of CBE implementation in pharmacy; preparation of a competency framework as a foundation of CBE and the CBE implementation process and team; designing a CBE programme, modules and courses; delivery of the programme, and evaluation of the CBE implementation; and improving the programme. Each chapter provides some examples and references for further reading. The handbook is not intended as a rigid inflexible instruction for all settings. Rather, it can provide a first step for CBE implementation and provide a discussion point for advancement of pharmacy and pharmaceutical education globally.

Chapter 1 Background

Naoko Arakawa, Secretary of FIP Academic Pharmacy Section, Global Lead for Competency Development, FIP Workforce Development Hub, Assistant Professor in International Pharmacy, University of Nottingham (United Kingdom)

"Health is a fundamental human right." So said the World Health Organisation (WHO) director general to commemorate Human Rights Day in 2017 and his statement remains a core concept of universal health coverage.¹ Attainment of health is dependent on the quality and resilience of the health system. Health systems require sufficient human resources for health, including a pharmaceutical workforce with the right competencies to meet a health system's demands and the health needs of the population. However, there is evidence projecting an 18 million shortfall of human resources for health by 2030, primarily in low- and middle-income countries.² This health workforce shortage is one of the main challenges to achieving the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the WHO's commitment to universal health coverage in resource-limited countries and settings. The recent COVID-19 pandemic has left significant scars on the health care workforce and will undoubtedly worsen the shortage and well-being of the workforce. Burden and demands on the health workforce are also due to demographic changes with an increasingly ageing population and prevalence of non-communicable diseases and multi-morbidity. These challenges highlight the need for better academic capacity and high-quality transformative education to supply adaptable and flexible health professionals.

Scaling up and strengthening quality transformative education based on the health needs and demands of populations and health systems is one of key recommendations from WHO to transform the health workforce.³ Adopting a competency-based education (CBE) approach as an instructional design in 21st century health professional education was called for in a seminal 2010 *Lancet* paper.⁴

The call for and move towards CBE in health professional education also aligns with the FIP vision for pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education. CBE is at the core of the needs-based education cyclic model, set as a foundation for the Pharmacy Education Action Plan for 2008–2010, developed by consultation within FIP⁵ and monitored by the WHO-UNESCO-FIP Pharmacy Education Taskforce.^{6, 7} FIP has supported pharmacy leaders and educators in their endeavours to embed CBE by developing and publishing tools such as the FIP Global Competency Framework⁸ and the Global Advanced Development Framework.⁹

Anecdotally, challenges are encountered relating to implementation of CBE concepts especially related to initial pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education and training (IPET). IPET refers to a pre-service higher education programme which leads a graduate to a formal registration as a pharmacist with a statutory board of the country where the education is provided.¹⁰ This includes bachelor (e.g., BPharm), master (e.g., MPharm), and professional doctorate (e.g., PharmD) degrees, depending on the countries where the IPET is offered. These challenges faced prior to, during and after the implementation of CBE are because IPET is often determined by regulation and legislation surrounding pharmacist registration in a country, and the nature of the higher education programme with a time-defined programme and less flexible training pathways due to limited resources. Differences from traditional education and their implementation processes also require extra efforts for better application of CBE concepts in IPET.

The comments and experiences of pharmacy leaders and educators motivated the FIP team to develop this FIPEd "Competency-based education implementation handbook". The handbook is structured to support pharmacy leaders and educators to implement CBE concepts in their IPET partly or wholly. Some examples, educational formats and assessment styles described in the handbook can also be used to support the implementation of CBE concepts in continuing professional development (CPD), post-graduate programmes and other lifelong learning settings. The handbook is a practical, step-by-step guide and a reference for readers to review when they encounter any challenges during their CBE implementation. The educational/ professional career structures referred to in the handbook is illustrated in Figure 1. After the graduation from IPET, FIP considers professional careers at two levels, early career and advanced. Education and training for these levels are also described in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Educational phases in the pharmaceutical career pathway

The project to develop the handbook was primarily initiated to support achieving FIP Development Goal 5 (Competency development). However, it also has major relevance to Development Goal 1 (Academic capacity). Broad collaboration across FIP constituencies addresses the One FIP vision to ensure relevance to all FIP members and member organisations. The handbook was developed based on evidence, including a systematic review¹¹ and a global survey on CBE use in pharmacy education (see Chapter 3). Contributors were sought based on their expertise, their experiences and their passions in their field. Bringing this handbook together, the project team also aimed to advocate seamless transitions in the educational cycle of pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education from initial education to CPD to lifelong learning. We hope this handbook will support pharmacy leaders and educators in successful CBE implementation for developing better professional development journeys and workforce planning. The goal is to help improve national and global health of populations across the world.

Chapter 1 describes the background of the development and purpose of the handbook. It also aims to navigate readers to which of the following chapters they would like to focus on. Figure 2 illustrates and described the steps of CBE implementation and the structure of the Handbook.

Chapter 2 addresses the importance of CBE and describes the notion of CBE and related theoretical perspectives. It provides an overview of CBE in health professions and pharmacy education, and explains why CBE is recommended for pharmacy professional development. It sets the scene for the handbook and provides foundation information as scaffolding for later chapters.

Chapter 3 summarises evidence collected from an earlier phase of the project — a systematic review and global survey. It provides existing evidence regarding CBE implementation in pharmacy across nations and describes the current situation of CBE implementation in pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education.

Chapter 4 provides step-by-step guidance for CBE implementation with practical examples. It describes the process of CBE implementation and important issues to be considered.

Chapter 5 addresses important issues related to evaluation where CBE is implemented. This includes short-term and long-term evaluation relating to quality assurance of CBE implemented in pharmacy education.

Chapter 6 describes necessary considerations about faculty and preceptor development prior to, during and after the CBE implementation.

Figure 2: An overview of CBE implementation and related activities and chapters of the handbook



Finally, the handbook provides a glossary of terms used as a reference point for readers.

It is hoped this handbook will inspire pharmacy education leaders and pharmacy educators to implement CBE in their programmes and support their journey of CBE implementation. It can provide a first step for CBE implementation and provide a discussion point for advancement of pharmacy education globally.

References

- 1. Ghebreyesus, T.A. Health is a fundamental human right. 2017. Accessed 2022 12 July; Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/commentaries/detail/health-is-a-fundamental-human-right.
- High-Level Commission on Health Employment and Economic Growth. Working for health and growth: investing in the health workforce. Geneva:World Health Organization; 2016. Accessed 2017 23 Dec; Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/250047/1/9789241511308-eng.pdf?ua=1</u>.
- 3. World Health Organization. Global strategy on human resources for health: Workforce 2030. Geneva:World Health Organization; 2016. Accessed 2017 23 Dec; Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/250368/1/9789241511131-eng.pdf?ua=1.
- 4. Frenk, J., Chen, L., Bhutta, Z.A., et al., Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. The Lancet, 2010;376:1923-1958.
- 5. Anderson, C., Bates, I., Beck, D., et al., FIP Roundtable Consultation on Pharmacy Education: Developing a global vision and action plan. International Pharmacy Journal, 2006;20:12-13.
- 6. Anderson, C., Bates, I., Beck, D., et al., The WHO UNESCO FIP Pharmacy Education Taskforce: Enabling Concerted and Collective Global Action. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2008;72:127.
- 7. Anderson, C., Bates, I., Beck, D., et al., The WHO UNESCO FIP pharmacy education taskforce. Human Resources for Health, 2009;7:1-8.
- 8. International Pharmaceutical Federation. A Global Competency Framework version 1. The Hague: FIP; 2012. Available from: https://www.fip.org/file/1412.

- 9. International Pharmaceutical Federation. FIP Global Advanced Development Framework: Supporting the advancement of the profession version 1. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2020. Available from: https://www.fip.org/file/4790.
- 10. Arakawa, N., Bruno-Tomé, A., and Bates, I., A Global Comparison of Initial Pharmacy Education Curricula: An Exploratory Study. INNOVATIONS in Pharmacy, 2020;11:18.
- 11. McMullen, J., Arakawa, N., Anderson, C., et al., A systematic review of contemporary competency-based education and training for pharmacy practitioners and students. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2022.

Chapter 2 Competency-based education

Dalia Bajis, FIP Lead for Provision and Partnership (Netherlands)

Naoko Arakawa, Secretary of FIP Academic Pharmacy Section, Global Lead for Competency Development, FIP Workforce Development Hub, Assistant Professor in International Pharmacy, University of Nottingham (United Kingdom)

2.1 Health workforce development for the attainment of global health

Implementation of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 3 (SDG 3) is to ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all persons at all ages. Achieving SDG 3 will require a strong health workforce, including a strong pharmaceutical workforce in all countries. Human resources for healthcare is the cornerstone of the health system in every country and plays a critical role in achieving universal health coverage (UHC), primary health care and the health-related targets of SDG 3. Therefore, stimulating and investing in human resources, including recruitment, management and specialised training, are essential for any health system and to reduce the projected shortage of 18 million health workers, primarily in low- and lower-middle-income countries.¹ A pharmaceutical workforce, including pharmacists, of an adequate size and skill mix is critical to the attainment of any population health goal.²

2.2 Needs-based and competency-based education and training

2.2.1 Competency-based education: the concept

Aligning health services with health professional education is a common discourse in the education of health professionals due to looming health challenges.³ Competency-based education (CBE) is a topic of much interest due to the shift of education models in health professional education to address "glaring gaps and inequities in health persisting both within and between countries".⁴ It is evident that having a capable workforce at the centre of health systems is essential for these systems to perform well and fulfil patient needs. This requires that health professional education systems are aligned with and prepared for local health care systems.

The concept of needs-based education is advocated by FIP and is highlighted in FIP competency frameworks including the Quality Assurance of Pharmacy Education Framework,⁵ the competency framework for educators⁶ and the global competency frameworks for pharmacists.⁷⁻⁹ As represented in Figure 3 local, regional, national and international needs, policies and priorities will determine the services that must be provided by pharmacists, supported by other members of the pharmaceutical workforce, including technicians and pharmacy students and trainees. The services provided by pharmacists will subsequently determine what competencies must be developed by pharmacists to deliver the required services. As practice shifts from a product focus to a patient focus, pharmacists' education and training should accordingly reflect new professional competencies correlating with a country's health needs and local factors. Therefore, preparing competent pharmacy graduates to provide medication- and patient-related healthcare services in an era of evolving health care needs, systems and models is imperative.

Figure 3: Needs based education model



Competency frameworks in health professional education and training are used to help practitioners navigate and advance their careers.^{10, 11} Competency frameworks are commonly structured around domains of knowledge or professional expertise and can specify defined levels of expertise, which are instrumental in designing the curriculum, teaching/learning formats and assessment formats. For example, the FIP Global Competency Framework (GbCF)^{7, 8} distinguishes four competency areas (pharmaceutical public health competencies, pharmaceutical care competencies, organisation and management competencies, and professional/personal competencies) while CanMEDS¹²-based frameworks use domains and related roles as an organising principle (pharmaceutical expert, communicator, collaborator, scholar, health advocate, leader, and professional). The required levels of expertise at graduation (e.g., teacher-guided, supervised, independent) can be specified for each competency domain separately in order to reflect differentiation in required professional behaviour at the time of graduation¹³ or before access to advanced pharmacy practice experiences.¹⁴

Definitions of competence, competency, competency-based education (CBE), and competency framework have been extracted from the recently published WHO global competency framework for universal health coverage.¹⁵

- **Competence:** The state of proficiency of a person to perform the required practice activities to the defined standard. This incorporates having the requisite competencies to do this in a given context. Competence is multidimensional and dynamic. It changes with time, experience and setting.
- **Competencies (singular competency)**: The abilities of a person to integrate knowledge, skills and attitudes in their performance of tasks in a given context. Competencies are durable, trainable and, through the expression of behaviours, measurable.

- **CBE:** An approach to preparing [health workers] for practice that is fundamentally oriented to outcome abilities and organised according to competencies. It de-emphasises time-based training and facilitates greater accountability, flexibility and learner-centredness.¹⁶
- Competency-framework: An organised and structured representation of a set of interrelated and purposeful competencies.¹⁷ Each competency is accompanied by behavioural statements or indicators. These behavioural indicators describe measurable behaviours which would be observed when the individual demonstrates the associated competency.¹⁸

2.2.2 CBE and outcome-based education

Confusion between outcome-based education (OBE) and CBE has often made the CBE implementation process harder. While both OBE and CBE have a common focus on the results of education and training, they are not equivalent in detail.¹⁹ Differences between OBE and CBE are related to their definitions of the endpoints. According to Spady,²⁰ considered the father of OBE, outcomes in the OBE model refer to "clear learning results that we want students to demonstrate at the end of significant learning experiences", and "actions and performances that embody and reflect learner competence in using content, information, ideas, and tools successfully". In OBE, the endpoint is anchored around academic performance from what has been learnt, whereas the endpoint of CBE is focused on practice-based performance. Hence, competencies emphasise performance of tasks in a given context of practice,¹⁵ and need to be constantly developed based on health needs of populations and patients.^{4, 19} The developmental feature of competencies allows for advancement, and the development of expertise and competent professional performance.²¹

Furthermore, the scopes of outcomes and competencies in education are not the same. Some argue competencies are used for professional development guiding individual learners towards achieving excellence in practice and rooted in behaviourism and mastery learning theory.²² This scope of the concept is essential when individuals consider and identify competency-related performance and developmental gaps to master the said skills and competencies and pursue a path to excellence. On the other hand, outcomes are often considered the standards of healthcare professionals required for practice, which individual learners need to obtain at the end of educational programmes or training. Outcomes and standards are useful proxies for minimum quality assurance of health professional practice and regulation. Therefore, competencies and outcomes are not separate concepts but interlinked concepts in health professional education.

Having a competency framework describing a set of competencies and accompanied behavioural indicators, learning outcomes are may be derived from the competency framework, considering various contexts and conditions related to local health professional education and training programmes. The relationship between competency, behavioural indicator, and learning outcomes are summarised in Figure 4

Figure 4 Relationship between competency, behavioural indicator, and learning outcome



2.2.3 CBE: from initial education to professional development in the context of lifelong learning

CBE is key to supporting seamless transition from initial education to professional development. Opoku *et al* addressed the complexity and a stressful period of the transition from initial health professional education into practice for new healthcare practitioners.²³ It was highlighted that the ease or difficulty of the transition journey to professional competence is pivotal to achieving successful transition. Multiple factors were shown to impact this journey, including professional competence of health professionals upon entry to practice. CBE is therefore an important educational approach to embrace in preparing health professional students with the knowledge and skills to cope better while transitioning into practice and perform according to the needs of patients and the setting they are a part of.

Based on what has been described in Section 2.2.2, proposing CBE in a professional's development journey supports progression towards excellence in practice. Competence development therefore remains on a trajectory from knowledge acquirement to excellence in performance. Starting with initial health professional education, implementation of CBE requires application of the CBE concept to curricular content, teaching, learning and assessment methods, and educational or performance outcomes. Elaboration on the implementation of CBE in pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education is provided in Chapter 4. But it is noteworthy that CBE cannot be viewed in isolation of the self-initiated, ongoing pursuit of knowledge and skills throughout one's professional life, which covers a whole spectrum of formal, non-formal and informal learning in order to foster the continuous development and improvement of the knowledge and skills needed for employment and personal fulfilment.²⁴ The notion that CBE in pharmacy must be seen in the context of lifelong learning and continuing professional development has been described by Bajis et al.²⁵ They propose that lifelong learning practices incentivise the adoption of CBE models (discussed in this handbook) as a vehicle to support ongoing personal and professional development, which must begin in initial education and continue for life. In addition, and as far as progressing from knowledge attainment (the knowing and knowing how), to competence (the showing how), to performance (the doing) as described by Miller,²⁶ Bajis *et al* propose that these move in a cyclical fashion towards excellence (or expertise in a competency or skill) reflecting one's professional development goals and competency and learning gaps (Figure 5, all within the realm of lifelong learning, which enhances selffulfilment, connection with others and professional success, and fosters innovation, to mention a few.

Figure 5: Competency-based learning and assessment cycle in the context of life-long learning. Bringing together knowledge acquirement, competence development, performance and expertise development supported by person-centred (student and professional) learning modalities and feedback. Adapted with permission²⁷



In the cyclic model of competency-based learning and assessment (figure 5), firstly, four domains (knowledge, competence, and performance and expertise) are integrated in a continuous cycle of transference of knowledge to application. Secondly, building on a foundation of knowledge and skills (depicted by multiple arrows) to build competencies (depicted by fewer number of arrows) and to perform tasks. Thirdly, the dotted circular line depicts constant exchange of new knowledge from experience, practice, and research. Finally, maintaining expertise in the workplace is illustrated by a looped-arrow re-entering the learning and assessment cycle; a depiction of constant exposure to various workplace contexts in practice and need for self-reflection on continuing education needs.

2.3 Educational theories in the context of CBE

The perceptions of conceptual complexity in the CBE approach often come from the combinations of educational theories and notions in contemporary higher education.²⁸ These include:

- Social constructivism²⁹ applying student-centred learning;
- Authentic assessment^{30, 31} connectivity from formal education to practice in the real world;
- Outcome-based education^{20, 32} allowing programmes and educators to be innovative in instructive design; and
- Self-regulation³³ and metacognition³⁴ preparing students to be proactive and life-long learners.

Efforts have been made to support the implementation of CBE in health professional education by easing the complexity of CBE and the understanding of what CBE comprises. For example, a Delphi study³⁵ with 25 experts from the international competency-based medical education collaborators group identified five core components of competency-based medical education. These are outcome competencies, sequenced progressively, tailored learning

experiences, competency-focused instruction, and programmatic assessment. These have a strong theoretical (educational and developmental) basis, however practical implementation guidance has been lacking.

References

- 1. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Health workforce fact sheet on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): health targets. Copenhagen:World Health Organization; 2018. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/340830.
- High-Level Commission on Health Employment and Economic Growth. Working for health and growth: investing in the health workforce. Geneva:World Health Organization; 2016. Accessed 2017 23 Dec; Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/250047/1/9789241511308-eng.pdf?ua=1</u>.
- 3. Schmutz, A.M., Jenkins, L.S., Coetzee, F., et al., Re-imagining health professions education in the coronavirus disease 2019 era: Perspectives from South Africa. African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine, 2021;13:2948.
- 4. Frenk, J., Chen, L., Bhutta, Z.A., et al., Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. The Lancet, 2010;376:1923-1958.
- 5. International Pharmaceutical Federation. Quality Assurance of Pharmacy Education: the FIP Global Framework 2nd ed. 2014. Accessed 2014 4th Sep; Available from: <u>http://www.fip.org/files/fip/PharmacyEducation/Quality_Assurance/QA_Framework_2nd_Edition_online_version.</u> <u>pdf</u>.
- 6. International Pharmaceutical Federation. The FIP Global Competency Framework for Educators & Trainers in Pharmacy (FIP-GCFE), Version 1. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2022.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation. A Global Competency Framework version 1. The Hague: FIP; 2012. Available from: <u>https://www.fip.org/file/1412</u>.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation. Executive Summary: FIP Global Competency Framework Version 2 -Supporting the development of foundation and early career pharmacists. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.fip.org/file/5127</u>.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation. FIP Global Advanced Development Framework: Supporting the advancement of the profession version 1. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.fip.org/file/4790</u>.
- 10. Udoh, A., Bruno-Tomé, A., Ernawati, D.K., et al., The effectiveness and impact on performance of pharmacy-related competency development frameworks: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2021;17:1685-1696.
- 11. Udoh, A., Bruno-Tomé, A., Ernawati, D.K., et al., The development, validity and applicability to practice of pharmacyrelated competency frameworks: A systematic review. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2021;17:1697-1718.
- 12. Frank, J.R., Snell, L., and Sherbino, J. CanMEDS 2015: Physician Competency Framework. 2015.
- 13. Koster, A.S., Mantel-Teeuwisse, A.K., Woerdenbag, H.J., et al., Alignment of CanMEDS-based undergraduate and postgraduate pharmacy curricula in The Netherlands. Pharmacy, 2020;8:117.
- 14. VanLangen, K.M., Meny, L., Bright, D., et al., Faculty perceptions of entrustable professional activities to determine pharmacy student readiness for Advanced Practice Experiences. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2019;83.
- 15. World Health Organization. Global Competency Framework for Universal Health Coverage. Geneva:World Health Organization; 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240034686.
- 16. Frank, J.R., Mungroo, R., Ahmad, Y., et al., Toward a definition of competency-based education in medicine: a systematic review of published definitions. Medical Teacher, 2010;32:631-637.
- 17. Englander, R., Frank, J.R., Carraccio, C., et al., Toward a shared language for competency-based medical education. Medical Teacher, 2017;39:582-587.
- 18. Mills, E., Farmer, D., Bates, I., et al., Development of an evidence-led competency framework for primary care and community pharmacists. Pharmaceutical Journal, 2005;275:48-52.
- 19. Albanese, M.A., Mejicano, G., Mullan, P., et al., Defining characteristics of educational competencies. Medical Education, 2008;42:248-255.
- 20. Spady, W.G., Outcome-Based Education: Critical Issues and Answers. Arlington: American Association of School Administrators; 1994.
- 21. Carroll, A. and McCrackin, J., The Competent Use of Competency-Based Strategies for Selection and Development. Performance Improvement Quarterly, 1998;11:45-63.
- 22. Hodge, S., The Origins of Competency-based Training. Australian Journal of Adult Learning, 2007;47:179-209.
- 23. Opoku, E.N., Khuabi, L.-A.J.-N., and Van Niekerk, L., Exploring the factors that affect the transition from student to health professional: an Integrative review. BMC Medical Education, 2021;21:1-12.
- 24. Laal, M., Lifelong Learning: What does it Mean? Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 2011;28:470-474.

- 25. Bajis, D., Chaar, B., and Moles, R., Rethinking competence: A nexus of educational models in the context of lifelong learning. Pharmacy, 2020;8:81.
- 26. Miller, G.E., The assessment of clinical skills/competence/performance. Academic Medicine, 1990;65:S63-7.
- 27. Bajis, D., Competency-Based Pharmacy Education and Training in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. 2019, University of Sydney: Sydney.
- 28. Mulder, M., Competence-the essence and use of the concept in ICVT. European journal of vocational training, 2007;40:05.
- 29. Thomas, A., Menon, A., Boruff, J., et al., Applications of social constructivist learning theories in knowledge translation for healthcare professionals: a scoping review. Implementation Science, 2014;9:1-20.
- 31. Griffiths, T. and Guile, D., A connective model of learning: The implications for work process knowledge. European educational research journal, 2003;2:56-73.
- 32. Harden, R.M., AMEE Guide No. 14: Outcome-based education: Part 1-An introduction to outcome-based education. Medical Teacher, 1999;21:7-14.
- 33. Swing, S.R., Perspectives on competency-based medical education from the learning sciences. Medical Teacher, 2010;32:663-668.
- 34. Medina, M.S., Castleberry, A.N., and Persky, A.M., Strategies for Improving Learner Metacognition in Health Professional Education. Am J Pharm Educ, 2017;81:78.
- 35. Van Melle, E., Frank, J.R., Holmboe, E.S., et al., A Core Components Framework for Evaluating Implementation of Competency-Based Medical Education Programs. Academic Medicine, 2019;94:1002-1009.

Chapter 3 Global status of CBE in pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education

Jessica McMullen, PhD candidate at the University of Nottingham, UK Claire Anderson, Professor of Social Pharmacy, University of Nottingham, UK Naoko Arakawa, Secretary of FIP Academic Pharmacy Section, Global Lead for Competency Development, FIP Workforce Development Hub, Assistant Professor in International Pharmacy, University of Nottingham, UK

3.1 Background

CBE in pharmacy, and in other healthcare professions, often follows developments in the medical field. In a review of the medical literature, Frank *et al* found a substantial level of heterogeneity in the definitions of CBE, highlighting the complexity and level of debate within the concept of CBE.¹ However, the authors defined four major CBE themes: (i) organising framework (demonstrable graduate outcomes defined as competencies and abilities); (ii) rationale (learner-centred approach based on societal needs); (iii) contrast with time; and (iv) implementing CBE (designs, components and ingredients).¹

Nevertheless, operationalisation of competency frameworks and the implementation of CBE is a complex process.² As a result, rates of CBE adoption globally are low for pharmacy and many efforts fall short of a fully realised CBE curriculum. Reasons suggested for this lie among challenges in four key areas: defining the health needs of the community, defining competencies, self-regulated and flexible learning options, and assessing learners for competence.³

Previous literature on CBE in pharmacy addresses some of these challenges and further highlights the discrepancies between the interpretation and application of CBE.^{4, 5} A variety of information is also available on different aspects of CBE, including assessment methods,⁶ validity and applicability of competency frameworks,⁷ and useful and practical guidance for developing a CBE programme.^{2, 8}

Despite the plethora of research, tools and information supporting the implementation of CBE, it remains a significant endeavour where global uptake is inconsistent.⁹ In order to understand the challenges and needs of those wishing to adapt to a CBE system it was important to examine the latest literature in the field and to perform further up-to-date research to reflect the latest developments in pharmacy. This was achieved through a systematic review of the relevant literature and a survey that was distributed to pharmacy schools globally. The aim was to collect information about CBE-related activity, in line with the core features, and to determine the current global state of CBE for pharmacy. The details of these studies and a summary of the results are presented in this chapter.

3.2 Methods

The systematic review focused on identifying the features, or prominent attributes or aspects, of CBE employed in pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education and training. Literature was restricted to studies published in English from 2010 to 2021. Studies relating to undergraduate (initial training or pre-registration degree depending on location e.g., MPharm, BPharm, or PharmD), postgraduate (graduate students studying for a second qualification e.g., Masters or Postgraduate Diploma, PGDip), and professionals undertaking post-qualification workplace-based training (post initial or first degree and registration as a pharmacist) were included.

Any study that fulfilled the above criteria and was related to CBE (as defined by Hodges *et al*¹⁰),^{*} or elements of CBE in line with the core concepts of a competency-based approach (i.e., a focus on the outcome of education in terms of what students can do in relation to a specific role) were considered for inclusion. Features of CBE from the studies were categorised into overarching themes. These features and themes were further refined, with reference to definitions of CBE from the medical field^{1†} and with assistance from collaborators from around the globe with experience of competency-based education in pharmacy. A total of 20 features and 21 sub-features were identified and categorised into six overarching themes: design, teaching and learning, feedback and assessment, faculty, resources, and internal and external factors. Some of these are discussed further in this chapter, highlighting some of the key findings of the studies that may be useful when considering CBE implementation and development. Full details of the method, including the search strategy used can be found in the full published article of this review.¹¹

As for the survey, it was designed to capture the current extent of CBE worldwide for pharmacy and the often-linked pharmaceutical sciences to determine the current extent of CBE utilised globally, the perceived challenges of implementing CBE in pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences, and the characteristics of CBE-related elements incorporated within pharmacy and pharmaceutical science programmes, modules or units.

The survey was distributed online to pharmacy schools globally via FIP and the European Association of Faculties of Pharmacy, using their existing mailing lists, between November 2021 and March 2022. Personal contacts of the research team and collaborators were also emailed to further increase the distribution of the survey. The survey questions were subjected to face validation using a core team of collaborators from around the globe with experience in CBE for pharmacy and the pharmaceutical sciences (see Acknowledgements). Participants were asked to provide demographical information as well as specific details about their school or department in terms of the programmes that offered whole CBE curricula, or parts of curricula e.g., units or modules that were related to the CBE approach.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Systematic review

There were 28 studies included in the review. The locations of the research from the studies, according to the WHO regions, and the level of education or training referenced as the focus of the study are presented in Figure 6. Most research was based in high-income countries, none of the studies relate to CBE activity in pharmaceutical science or in the African or South-East Asian regions, and one study was cross-regional. Many of the studies focused on undergraduate education (18, 64%), followed by post-qualification training (7, 25%) and then postgraduate education (3, 11%).

^{* &}quot;Education that derives a curriculum from an analysis of a prospective or actual role in modern society and attempts to certify students' progress on the basis of demonstrated performance in some or all aspects of that role."

[†] "Competency-based education (CBE) is an approach to preparing physicians for practice that is fundamentally orientated to graduate outcome abilities and organised around competencies derived from an analysis of societal and patient needs. It deemphasises time-based training and promises greater accountability, flexibility, and learner-centeredness."

Figure 6 Distribution of review studies according to WHO regions and level of pharmacy education or training



Design

A patient-centred¹²⁻¹⁷ and needs-based approach^{18, 19} to CBE programme design was frequently mentioned in the studies, including the incorporation of generic skills.^{16, 17, 20-23} The supporting abilities that students develop during a CBE programme are important as they align with the demands of pharmacists to work as high-standard healthcare professionals¹³. Other features were associated with the progressive process of competency development, including the sequence of competency development²⁴⁻²⁷ and the extent to which competencies are integrated throughout the curriculum.^{13, 16, 25, 28}

Systems of instruction and learning methods

A common supporting component of the CBE approach is the need to provide training on the concept of competency itself.^{14, 16, 20, 22, 25, 26, 29} This is mainly to connect competencies in relation to the learning outcomes^{16, 22} but also so that students can engage with a continuum of overall competence development (continuing to achieve individual competencies throughout their career) relevant to the standards of the profession and appropriate to the level at which they will be working in practice.^{20, 25} Reference was made to self-directed learning helping to encourage motivation and autonomy, which could also be utilised when pharmacists advance their practice.²¹ Self-directed learning is also closely linked to a learner-centred approach,⁸ where students identify their own learning gaps using self-reflection and choose their own research projects or topics of interests. Learners expressed that this flexibility and opportunity to individually tailor a programme to their own needs was a benefit of the CBE approach.^{21, 29}

Experiential learning strategies were perceived as important and superior for translating learning to practice and supporting acquisition of skills compared with teaching materials designed to impart knowledge.¹⁶ However, an appropriate balance between academic content and technical skill development needs attention in the curriculum.¹⁶ In countries where the PharmD programme is dominant, experiential learning time is a sizeable proportion of the curriculum. In Canada, the US and Australia, particular attention is dedicated to assuring the quality of experiential education, which relies on the competency of preceptors.^{23, 26} In some locations there is not such a long-standing practice of experiential learning, and there is a need for more support to improve experiential learning opportunities¹⁷ and more practice-partnerships with educational institutions.¹⁸ Case studies, simulations and workplace-based learning can also contribute to achieving authentic and integrated teaching and learning across different contexts.²²

Interdisciplinary learning and associated competencies are recognised as a key component of education for healthcare professionals. However, despite the inclusion of interprofessional competencies in Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education (ACPE) standards, a recent study showed that a low proportion of US pharmacy schools (34%) indicated that these competencies were well covered by the curriculum. which suggests that this area requires improvement in the US.²⁷

Feedback and assessment

A number of studies referred to providing regular feedback, particularly soon after completing assessments^{13, 30, 31} and learning activities.³² The combined use of formative and summative assessment can aid the regulation of a learner's competency development to engage in a continual learning process.^{20, 22} Feedback should be specific and meaningful and come from a variety of sources, including other healthcare professionals and even patients, which contributes to objectivity.³¹ In Canada most of assessments for pharmacy resident programmes (75%) were longitudinal.³¹ One of the few assessment stipulations of the accreditation standards of the Canadian Pharmacy Residency Board is the requirement for longitudinal assessments.³³ Rich suggests that measuring competence in this manner as a pattern of performance overtime is more useful than measuring competencies in isolation.²²

Portfolios were used as an assessment tool in four of the studies.^{13, 20, 21, 29} Portfolios are also used in conjunction with competency frameworks, which help to structure the documentation of a learner's development.^{13, 29} Development of all patient care competencies was found to be significant in a longitudinal study of community pharmacists, before and after completing a tailored education programme, which included a mandatory competency-based portfolio of the learner's contributions to patient care.²⁹ However, feedback on portfolios revealed they could be difficult to use. Consequently, attention to their user-friendliness is recommended to ensure they are clear and efficient to employ, thus improving their acceptance and usability.^{20, 29}

Another assessment method mentioned was the Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE). Recommendations for improving the experience and performance with this method include performing prior formative OSCEs in preparation for final summative OSCE assessments, which helps to allay anxieties particularly when students are new to this method.^{34, 35} Kirton and Kravitz also describe only a weak correlation between performance in OSCEs and that of more traditional assessment methods, as the different formats examine different skills. Therefore, they recommend that OSCEs should be used in conjunction with a number of different assessment formats.³⁶ Furthermore, performance in OSCEs can be related to external factors rather than ability, and so attention should be paid to the examination environment, structure, timing and the amount of weight any assessment carries towards the final grade.³⁶

Westein *et al* describe the process of a thorough evaluation of a CBE programme for community pharmacists and conclude that entrustable professional activities (EPAs) are an assessment method for postgraduate pharmacy education that is adaptable to changes in pharmacy practice without needing to change the underlying competency framework. However, care must be taken to limit the number of EPAs to avoid administrative burden and assessment trivialisation.¹³

Learner self-assessment was a salient feature employed in pharmacy education both at undergraduate level,^{25, 30} postqualification level,^{20, 21, 29, 31, 32, 38} and for the development of pharmacy education preceptors.²³ Competency frameworks provide standards which learners can assess themselves against and use to plan future learning.^{20, 21, 23, 29, 31, 32, 38} Furthermore, Nash *et al* describe that asking students to self-assess on their performance using Miller's pyramid³⁹ can contribute to a programme's assurance of learning by providing data reflective of the actual "learnt" curriculum as experienced by students.²⁵ As with EPAs and OSCEs, it is noted that learner self-assessment should not be used in isolation but as part of a profile of varied CBE feedback and assessment strategies.³¹

Faculty — preceptors, trainers and instructors

The involvement of practice-based trainers is often fundamental.¹⁷ These trainers are often pharmacists, and occasionally other healthcare professionals, who are involved in teaching and supervision of a substantial portion of CBE and training. In some cases, this can be whole years of study,¹⁶ entire programmes,¹³ and significant periods of supervised practice prior to licensure as a pharmacist.²⁶ However, they are not necessarily trained educators and may not have much knowledge of CBE and related assessments. In recognition of the crucial role of preceptors in CBE, a preceptor competency framework has been developed in Canada to enhance the quality of practice-based learning experiences.²³ In addition to CBE training for practice-based trainers, support and familiarisation with the concept of competence and related teaching circumstances are also essential for academic faculty members.¹⁶ Different

epistemological understandings of CBE among faculty members can lead to disjointed approaches to teaching, therefore a unified approach is recommended.¹⁶ Additionally, involvement of all faculty members, and other higher education stakeholders, in the design and evaluation of CBE programmes helps to facilitate faculty buy-in and acceptance of the considerable changes needed to adapt to a CBE curriculum.^{13, 16, 17}

Resources

Information technology and web-based systems are utilised in CBE to aid feedback, organisation and evaluation. Allen *et al* describe a web-based tool (individualised Skills Evaluation and Development, iSED) specifically designed for formative feedback with OSCEs that facilitates self-regulated learning.⁴⁰ Similarly, Bray *et al* describe using the Examsoft computer software to aid students with self-assessment and the provision of timely feedback, but also for question coding and rubrics.⁴¹ Nash *et al* describe using a database of information from educators' and students' perspectives for curriculum mapping and the co-creation of rubrics as a useful process for highlighting issues with scaffolding of learning and the integration of professional standards.²⁵

Paradis *et al* found that the differences in approaches to teaching in CBE calls for better coordination of the curriculum, which can be facilitated by specific leadership with curriculum mapping.¹⁶ Westein *et al* describe a process of careful curriculum design, coordination and evaluation of a CBE post-graduate education programme using a programme director and a director of education responsible for overall management. On a similar note, Volmer *et al* recognise the limitations of using evaluators without expertise in curriculum development and suggest that consultation with curriculum specialists is required to progress further with CBE in Estonia.¹⁷ Furthermore, the engagement of additional staff with expertise in CBE-related features, such as experiential education, is recognised as a strength by Walter *et al* in their approach with the design of a competency framework for preceptor development that has relevance internationally, both for pharmacy and across other health disciplines.²³

Internal and external factors

Formal support from both inside and outside educational institutions is valuable for CBE. For example, in a study of undergraduate curricula and the use of the Spanish competency framework, alignment was found to be insufficient despite legal enforcement since 2008. Consequently, Nunes-Da-Cunha and Fernandez-Limos suggest that professional regulatory bodies should work with educational bodies to support improved pairing of competencies and curricula content.⁴² One of the keys to success, reported by Bray *et al* regarding the implementation and ongoing use of a competency-based assessment model, was a supportive academic leadership team understanding of the disruption necessary to enact change.⁴¹ Similarly, Volmer *et al* recognise that considerable change requires understanding from both educational and governmental institutions.¹⁷ Walter *et al* highlight the importance of endorsement from all stakeholders when integrating a competency framework for preceptors, as this in turn influences the support for them to complete a competency-based development programme.²³ Workplace organisational support for learning is also emphasised, as the educational environment of the learner can influence effective experiential learning¹³ and a CPD approach in the workplace.³² Higher support from regulation, practice and policy is correspondingly required to expand the scope of pharmacy practice, in line with educational developments, to promote excellence and achieve higher quality patient-oriented care, which is ultimately the aim of CBE for pharmacy.^{19, 28, 38}

A common theme from the studies is that CBE efforts should be coordinated to strengthen the consensus on optimal standards of practice and education for pharmacists, which was recommended on interprofessional^{13, 16, 27}, national^{14, 19, 23, 27} and international levels.^{12, 23} Stupans *et al* reported that high-income countries with similar health needs (Australia, Canada, United Kingdom and United States) displayed good alignment between their undergraduate learning outcomes and the FIP GbCF. The authors suggest that their findings support the feasibility of a common assessment tool for pharmacy education that would support transferability of skills, and thus mobilisation of the workforce across these jurisdictions.¹²

CBE for pharmacy should feature collaboration with other professions as demonstrated by the acceptability of a postgraduate programme for community pharmacists designed to align pharmacy competencies with other health

professions in the Netherlands.¹³ Intrinsic competency domains (often referred to as "soft skills", i.e., communication, ethics and professionalism) are quite similar across a variety of professions. Therefore, partnerships and collaborations across institutions may be beneficial to all professions when overcoming shared challenges in related competency assessment.²²

3.3.2 Global survey

A total of 72 responses were included in the global analysis. The distribution of responding countries is shown in Figure 7.





country

Due to the issues previously mentioned with achieving a fully realised CBE curriculum, respondents were asked to provide information about whether they were using CBE throughout the whole programme, or just parts of the programme. In most cases respondents indicated that CBE was used throughout the whole programme, 41 (71.9%) for pharmacy and 15 (62.5%) for pharmaceutical sciences.

Schools or departments not using CBE

Of the 72 respondents, 62 (86.1%) indicated that they were using CBE in some format and 10 (13.9%) indicated that they were not using CBE at all. Those not using CBE were in Australia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Japan, Malaysia, Pakistan and Nigeria (n=1), and Portugal and the US (n=2). Six of the respondents not currently using CBE indicated that they were planning to implement CBE (or elements) within the next five years at their institution or university.

Respondents that are not currently using CBE were also asked if there were any specific needs that they thought may help their institution or university to implement CBE, responses included:

- "More information on what CBE entails" (Nigeria)
- "Specific training for teachers and staff" (Portugal)
- "Technology support, instructional design, valid and reliable competency-based rubrics" (USA)
- "We really need a core set of competencies that are agreed upon by the academy. That way, we can be somewhat consistent. We can handle implementation." (USA)

Challenges of using or implementing CBE

Information about the challenges encountered with using CBE was gathered from the survey in relation to some of the key elements of CBE. These included health-needs underpinning, selecting competencies, drafting competency frameworks, curriculum design, systems of instruction and learning methods, feedback and assessment, and faculty involvement and readiness.

The most common challenges cited for each of these key elements were inadequate faculty training or skills to perform need analysis or assessment (health-needs underpinning), difficulty obtaining stakeholder engagement (curriculum design), inter-professional education activities (systems of instruction and learning methods), workplace or experiential learning or assessment (feedback and assessment), and formal large-scale training (faculty involvement and readiness). Selecting competencies and drafting competency frameworks were the only elements where the most common response was that "no challenge was encountered".

Aspects of CBE currently used

Finally, those indicating that CBE was being used in their pharmacy or pharmaceutical science programmes were asked to provide information on some of the key elements of CBE to gather an idea of how CBE-related activity is in use currently.

Most respondents (n=35, 56.5%) stated that they did not use a form of health needs assessment to underpin their CBErelated activity. Those that conduct a health needs assessment to inform their learning outcomes did so most commonly via the use of stakeholder meetings followed by literature review. Availability of existing local pharmacy or pharmaceutical science competency frameworks was common (n=29, 43.3%); while some institutions created their own frameworks (n=12, 17.9%) and the GbCF was the third most used competency framework (n=9, 13.4%). When asked about competencies, 35 (74.5%) of those responding indicated that these were mapped to learning objectives, and for these mapping was most usually completed in one (36.7%), two (23.3%), or three (23.3%) rounds. Mapping commonly involved school or department academic staff in combination with course coordinators but also often involved students, pharmacists, alumni, and representatives from pharmacy or pharmaceutical science quality assurance bodies.

Despite challenges that were found with interprofessional education, 27 of 48 respondents indicated that it was part of their CBE-related activity when asked about systems of instruction and learning methods. However, it was the least commonly cited educational format employed. Discussions in lectures or tutorials were the educational format used in most cases, followed by case-based learning, problem or project-based learning, self-evaluation or reflection and then simulation-based learning.

Assessment in the CBE units, module or programmes remains in line with more traditional methods such as multiplechoice questions and written examinations but in many cases both summative and formative assessment did take place at various time points rather than all at the end of the unit, module or programme. This was accompanied with an opportunity for remediation in most cases (83%). Students were provided with opportunity for regulating their own timing or pacing of learning in 68.1% of cases of CBE-related activity, commonly attributed to some version of e-learning. In recognition of the resource requirements of implementing CBE, respondents were asked to indicate the resources involved in their own institutions. Most of these were related to increasing both clinical and academic staff. Figure 8 outlines these resource requirements in more detail. Although many organised some sort of training for their faculty to implement CBE, six respondents stated that no training was provided and 10 also stated that not all faculty members were informed of the complete CBE-related curriculum outline.



Figure 8: Resources needed to implement CBE units, modules, or programmes

3.4 Discussion

The systematic review provides some specific features to consider while using CBE and, although it is not exhaustive, it brings together the relevant research to facilitate the sharing of knowledge on CBE-related activities in pharmacy education that can be considered during all essential stages of preparation, implementation and evaluation of CBE initiatives.

It is, ultimately, the outcome, not the content, of education that is of focus in CBE — where the priority is the overall capability of the learner to perform in practice and continue to engage in life-long learning in an ever-changing environment.⁴³ In keeping with previous literature, this review identifies that a needs-based, integrated approach can help address many elements of CBE and avoid unnecessary overlap.² This review also echoes previous studies in relation to the resource intensive implementation process that CBE adoption entails.^{2, 4} There were no studies from Africa or Asia eligible for inclusion in the systematic review and these regions also had the lowest amount of survey responses. Further research on CBE is called for in these regions, and especially in resource-limited settings, particularly as in these

contexts there is often the greatest need for improved educational outcomes with the potential to subsequently improve health outcomes and mitigate significant shortfalls in skilled healthcare workers.⁴⁴

The global survey results suggest that CBE-related activity is widespread among pharmacy and pharmaceutical science educational facilities and that any lack of this activity is not necessarily related to the country within which the faculty is located. Even for respondents that replied they were not currently using CBE, the majority indicated that they were planning to in the next five years. Challenges to CBE design and execution are varied, many of which have been identified previously.⁴ However, there are some promising results from this study in relation to selecting competencies and developing frameworks where there were commonly no challenges encountered. One explanation for this could be due to various recent national and international efforts to develop competency frameworks, such as the Canadian Medical Education Directive for Specialists (CanMEDS) framework, for example, which has demonstrable applicability to pharmacy practice, or the FIP GbCF which can be adapted to different contexts.⁷

The conceptualisation and associated definitions and terminology associated with CBE requires harmonisation, as illustrated by several of the studies in the systematic review explicitly referring to a need for CBE to include training of both staff and students on the concept of competency itself. This need for a consensus in CBE components has previously been noted elsewhere.⁷ Similarly, previous discrepancies with the definitions, terminology and interpretations of CBE^{4, 5} are worth bearing in mind when interpreting the results from the global survey. Although a broad definition of CBE was provided with the online survey (as defined by Hodges *et al*⁴⁵), there is no guarantee that participants' understanding of this definition was homogenous, which may have influenced their responses. Furthermore, there may be some element of response bias, where those motivated to respond have a particular interest in CBE, which may have affected the results.

In addition to a shared understanding of the concept of competence, there are various other complexities and challenges to adopting the CBE approach that need to be considered. This requires a significant amount of planning and dedication of resources.⁴ However, the CBE adoption process depends on the specific context which is evident from the varied experiences outlined in the review studies. Situations differ according to local support systems for development of the pharmacy profession, which may be influenced by political or socioeconomic circumstances¹⁹ as well as the local relative novelty of the CBE approach to both pharmacy education and practice in any given setting.¹⁷ Therefore, both internal and external factors must be taken into account when embarking on CBE development and careful consideration at all stages must be exercised.²

3.5 Conclusions

The list of features and supporting components identified in the systematic review is not intended to be exhaustive, but rather a reflection of just over a decade of the most recent research in this area. There are disparities in the way that CBE is conceptualised and the variations in terminology and definitions can have an impact on all features of CBE. It is therefore imperative that a consensus and shared vision for all stakeholders is reached to bridge any gaps between intended curricula and the curricula experienced by learners to enable them to engage in a life-long learning and adaptation process that is in alignment with the realities of contemporary pharmacy practice.

The survey results highlight where further development is needed to assist with CBE initiatives for pharmacy. There does seem to be some progress in terms of defining competencies and organising these into frameworks which contribute to an overall organising structure, previously identified as a key element of the CBE approach. Work is needed, however, to assist with the provision of interprofessional and experiential education. Although, not essential tenets of the CBE approach these aspects are increasingly favourable, particularly in the pharmacy curriculum, where practice is becoming more focused on clinically oriented and patient-centred services, which in turn influences the needs-based element of CBE thereby impacting the skills and abilities required from graduates. In addition to specific

changes to teaching, learning and assessment, it is also clear that further work is required to support faculties in enacting the meaningful change required to adapt to CBE.

The systematic review and survey provide a timely summary of the features of CBE in pharmacy, given the recent advancements in this area, and provides a valuable resource for those considering implementing or improving CBE by building on what has already been learnt. Advancements are not, however, uniformly distributed around the globe. Therefore, we call for further research in regions, such as Africa and South-East Asia, which can aid the application of CBE in contexts with diverse needs and limited resources.

References

- 1. Frank, J.R., Mungroo, R., Ahmad, Y., et al., Toward a definition of competency-based education in medicine: a systematic review of published definitions. Medical Teacher, 2010;32:631-637.
- 2. Koster, A., Schalekamp, T., and Meijerman, I., Implementation of Competency-Based Pharmacy Education (CBPE). Pharmacy, 2017;5:10.
- 3. Gruppen, L., Mangrulkar, R., and Kolars, J., The promise of competency-based education in the health professions for improving global health. Human Resources For Health, 2012;10.
- 4. Katoue, M.G. and Schwinghammer, T.L., Competency-based education in pharmacy: A review of its development, applications, and challenges. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice, 2020;26:1114-1123.
- Wu, W., Martin, B.C., and Ni, C., A systematic review of competency-based education effort in the health professions: Seeking order out of chaos. Healthcare policy and Reform: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications, 2018;3:1410-1436.
- 6. Reed, B.N., Klutts, A.M., and Mattingly, T.J., A systematic review of leadership definitions, competencies, and assessment methods in pharmacy education. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2019;83:1873-1885.
- 7. Udoh, A., Bruno-Tomé, A., Ernawati, D.K., et al., The development, validity and applicability to practice of pharmacyrelated competency frameworks: A systematic review. Research in social and administrative pharmacy, 2021;17.
- 8. Frank, J.R., Snell, L.S., Cate, O.T., et al., Competency-based medical education: theory to practice. Medical teacher, 2010;32:638-645.
- 9. International Pharmaceutical Federation. FIPEd Global Education Report. The Hague:FIP; 2013.
- 10. Hodges, B.D. and Lingard, L., eds. The question of competence: Reconsidering Medical Education in the Twenty-First Century. 2012, Cornell University Press: New York.
- 11. McMullen, J., Arakawa, N., Anderson, C., et al., A systematic review of contemporary competency-based education and training for pharmacy practitioners and students. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2022.
- 12. Stupans, I., Atkinson, J., Mestrovic, A., et al., A Shared Focus: Comparing the Australian, Canadian, United Kingdom and United States Pharmacy Learning Outcome Frameworks and the Global Competency Framework. Pharmacy, 2016;4:26.
- 13. Westein, M.P.D., de Vries, H., Floor, A., et al., Development of a Postgraduate Community Pharmacist Specialization Program Using CanMEDS Competencies, and Entrustable Professional Activities. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2019;83:1354-1365.
- 14. Reardon, J., Rainkie, D., Black, E., et al., Pharmacist and pharmacy student perceptions of a competency-based national licensing exam for entry to pharmacy practice in Qatar: A qualitative study. Pharmacy Education, 2016;16:139-145.
- 15. Mann, J.E., Amerine, L.B., Waldron, K., et al., Pharmacist perceptions of competency: Identifying priority areas for a competency program development at an academic medical center. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2018;14:595-602.
- 16. Paradis, E., Zhao, R., Kellar, J., et al., How are competency frameworks perceived and taught? : An exploratory study in the context of pharmacy education. Perspectives on medical education, 2018;7:200-206.
- 17. Volmer, D., Sepp, K., Veski, P., et al., The Implementation of Pharmacy Competence Teaching in Estonia. Pharmacy, 2017;5:18.
- 18. Alves da Costa, F., Martins, A.P., Veiga, F., et al., Development of a Platform to Align Education and Practice: Bridging Academia and the Profession in Portugal. Pharmacy, 2020;8:11.
- 19. Bajis, D., Moles, R., Hosp, D., et al., Stakeholders' Perspectives on Quality Assurance of Pharmacy Education in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2018;82:6482.
- 20. Nash, R., Thompson, W., Stupans, I., et al., CPD Aligned to Competency Standards to Support Quality Practice. Pharmacy, 2017;5:12.
- 21. Vitor, C., Innes, A., and Bates, I., A qualitative assessment of an education programme for advanced pharmacy practice. Pharmacy Education, 2019;19:62-68.

- 22. Rich, J.V., Do Professions Represent Competence for Entry-to-Practice in Similar Ways? An Exploration of Competence Frameworks through Document Analysis. International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 2019;13.
- 23. Walter, S., Mulherin, K., and Cox, C.D., A Preceptor competency framework for pharmacists. Part 2 of a 3-part series. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2018;10:402-410.
- 24. Kirton, S.B. and Kravitz, L., Objective Structured Clinical Examinations (OSCEs) compared with traditional assessment methods. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2011;75:111-111.
- 25. Nash, R., Stupans, I., Chalmers, L., et al., Traffic Light Report Provides a New Technique for Assurance of Learning. Journal of Learning Design, 2016;9:37-54.
- 26. Stupans, I., Owen, S., McKauge, L., et al., Development and trialling of a graduated descriptors tool for Australian pharmacy students. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 2012;37:829-845.
- 27. Zeind, C.S., Blagg, J.D., Amato, M.G., et al., Incorporation of Institute of Medicine Competency Recommendations Within Doctor of Pharmacy Curricula. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2012;76:83.
- 28. Skowron, A., Dymek, J., Golda, A., et al., Are We Ready to Implement Competence-Based Teaching in Pharmacy Education in Poland? Pharmacy, 2017;5:25.
- 29. Meštrović, A., Staničić, Z., Hadžiabdić, M.O., et al., Individualized education and competency development of Croatian community pharmacists using the general level framework. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2012;76:1-8.
- 30. Allen, S., Waterfield, J., and Rivers, P., An investigation of pharmacy student perception of competence-based learning using the individual skills evaluation and development program, iSED[®]. Pharmacy Education, 2016;16:72-80.
- 31. Kary, S.J., Dumont, Z., Tangedal, K., et al., Measuring competency of pharmacy residents: A survey of residency programs' methods for assessment and evaluation. Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy, 2019;72:343-352.
- 32. Al-Haqan, A., Al-Baghli, S., Al-Enizi, A.B., et al., The development and evaluation of a structured continuing professional development programme for pharmacists in kuwait: A feasibility study. Pharmacy, 2020;8:1-16.
- 33. Canadian Council for the Accreditation of Pharmacy Programs (CCAPP) Accreditation standards for Canadian forst professional degree in pharmacy program. 2018.
- 34. Al-Haqan, A., Al-Taweel, D., Koshy, S., et al., Evolving to Objective Structured Clinical Exams (OSCE): Transitional experience in an undergraduate pharmacy program in Kuwait. Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal, 2021;29:104-113.
- 35. Reardon, J., Rainkie, D., Black, E., et al., Pharmacist and pharmacy student perceptions of a competency-based national licensing exam for entry to pharmacy practice in Qatar: A qualitative study. Pharmacy Education, 2016;16:139-145.
- 36. Kirton, S.B. and Kravitz, L., Objective Structured Clinical Examinations (OSCEs) Compared With Traditional Assessment Methods. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2011;75:111.
- 37. Al-Haqan, A., Al-Taweel, D., Koshy, S., et al., Evolving to Objective Structured Clinical Exams (OSCE): Transitional experience in an undergraduate pharmacy program in Kuwait. Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal, 2021;29:104-113.
- 38. Al-Haqan, A., Smith, F., Bader, L., et al., Competency development for pharmacy: Adopting and adapting the Global Competency Framework. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2021;17:771-785.
- 39. Miller, G.E., The assessment of clinical skills/competence/performance. Academic Medicine, 1990;65:S63-7.
- 40. Allen, R.E., Copeland, J., Franks, A.S., et al., Team-based learning in US colleges and schools of pharmacy. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2013;77:115.
- 41. Bray, B.S., Remsberg, C.M., Robinson, J.D., et al., Implementation and preliminary evaluation of an honourssatisfactory-fail competency-based assessment model in a doctor of pharmacy programme. Pharmacy Education, 2017;17:143-153.
- 42. Nunes-Da-Cunha, I. and Fernandez-Llimos, F., Misuse of competencies in pharmacy curriculum: The Spain case study. Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Education and Research, 2019;53:620-628.
- 43. Bajis, D., Chaar, B., and Moles, R., Rethinking Competence: A Nexus of Educational Models in the Context of Lifelong Learning. Pharmacy, 2020;8.
- 44. World Health Organization. Global strategy on human resources for health: Workforce 2030. Geneva:World Health Organization; 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/hrh/resources/pub_globstrathrh-2030/en/.
- 45. Hodges, B.D. and Lingard, L., The question of competence: reconsidering medical education in the twenty-first century, ed. B.D. Hodges and L. Lingard. Ithaca: ILR Press; 2012.

Chapter 4 Process of CBE implementation

Andries S. Koster: Associate Professor of Pharmacology, Utrecht University, the Netherlands

4.1 Get organised

Before starting the implementation of a CBE-curriculum an effective two-tiered organisational structure needs to be established. In order to develop and to oversee the curriculum as a whole, a curriculum committee consisting of teachers from different disciplines must be established. Ideally, also students, a staff member with managerial experience, educational specialists,¹ and an independent project manager² should participate in the committee. The main task is to create or design an overall curriculum structure (See section 4.3) within the boundaries of the adopted CBE framework, following guidelines from professional organisations and respecting existing governmental or university regulations. The work of the committee needs to be facilitated by the institution (faculty, department or school), and can be supported by specialised services for educational development. The main product will be a blueprint of the designed curriculum, containing at least information about the aspects mentioned in Table 1.

Framework	A description of the competency-framework used for the curriculum development. Depending on the local situation, an existing framework of a professional or governmental organisation can be used. Alternatively, a framework can be developed <i>de novo</i> as a preparatory step for the introduction of CBE (see Chapter 2).
Context	A description of the local context, such as related health care programmes, institutional structure, existing collaborations with professional organisations and number of incoming and outgoing students. A description is required of all those aspects that can have an impact (in terms of restrictions, limitations, opportunities or challenges) on the implementation of the intended CBE curriculum.
Educational guidelines	A description of the design principles, underlying CBE (see Chapter 2) and aiming at effective student learning. These guidelines can be used to make argued choices for teaching and learning activities, assessment of students and organisational aspects of the curriculum. If an institution (university, faculty, school) has adopted certain educational policies (e.g., problem-based or inquiry-based learning), this needs to be mentioned.
Curriculum design	A description of the courses and other curricular elements (traineeships, student mentoring, etc.), their sequence and mutual dependence. Ideally in a CBE curriculum, a certain degree of flexibility for students to follow courses at their own pace or sequence is required.
Schematic representation	A compact description of all curricular elements (courses, longitudinal aspects, traineeships) by study year and semester.
Resources	An analysis of the teaching capacity (hours, specified by discipline), facilities (classrooms, laboratories, computers, etc.) and material resources required for delivering the designed curriculum. If additional (temporary) resources are required during transition from an existing to a new curriculum, these must be specified separately.
Introduction of the programme	A description of the timeframe for the introduction of the new or modified curriculum. In particular when a traditional curriculum is to be replaced by a CBE curriculum, the use of human and other resources requires detailed and careful planning.

Table 1. Content of a blueprint for the development of a CBE curriculum

The blueprint will function as a reference and instruction document for the development of feedback and assessment strategies (see Section 4.5), individual courses (see Section 4.6) and use of resources (see Section 4.7) within the curriculum.

The second organisational tier consists of course development teams (CDTs) and teams for specialised functions within the curriculum (e.g., assessment, student tutoring, experiential placements, professional skills development). The composition of each team (between three and seven members) will depend on the task given; usually teachers with different disciplinary backgrounds participate but including a student and an educational specialist can be useful. Ideally, a member of the curriculum committee participates in each team to serve as a link between the curriculum committee and the various development teams. The main task of all teams is to create or design a course or other curriculum element within the boundaries of the instructions, which follows from the overall curriculum design. Explicit instructions by the curriculum committee must contain at least intended learning outcomes and an indication of the freedom and limitations of each team with respect to the use of teaching and assessment formats and resources (Table 2). The main product of each course development team will be a course specification document, where teaching and assessment formats, time schedule and available resources are described in some detail.

Administrative details	Course code and title, position within the curriculum, total study load, involved disciplines, responsible course coordinator, CDT composition, etc.
Course goals	Intended learning outcomes, described in terms of student knowledge and skills.
Course content	A description of the disciplinary content of the course. If a CBE curriculum is developed from an existing curriculum, suggestions for reuse of existing teaching materials, laboratory instructions and other teaching material can be given.
Context	Relations with respect to preceding, parallel and subsequent curriculum elements. Intended to frame the course content within the overall curriculum design. When longitudinal "learning lines" or "tracks" are used for structuring the curriculum, the position within and the contribution of the course to these "learning lines" or "tracks" can be specified to instruct the CDT.
Teaching formats	Suggested or prescribed teaching formats which are suitable for the course. When specific teaching and learning principles (e.g., problem-based, team-based, project-based or inquiry-based learning) are adopted within the curriculum, this needs to be specified.
Assessment formats	Suggested or prescribed assessment formats, which may depend on the position within the curriculum or other explicit educational choices, following from the adopted curricular design principles.
Boundaries	Limits on human, material and other resources. The number of participating students, the available teaching load and other restrictions, stemming from institutional or departmental structure can be specified. It can be helpful to specify the maximum percentage of contact hours, compared to the total study load (e.g., 30%).

Table 2. Content of a course specification document

Designing a curriculum is a creative process which requires the contribution of variously minded individuals.³ This can be organised as a curriculum committee with a flexible structure where sub-tasks can be allocated to smaller subsets of the committee as needs arise. The composition of CDTs and other teams will depend on the content and instruction of each team ("form follows function"). Monitoring the functioning of both the curriculum committee and the development teams can be helpful in maintaining speed and goal-directedness during the change process. Most teams will necessarily go through distinct phases (forming, storming, norming, performing and adjourning) to grow, tackle problems, find solutions and deliver results (Figure 9).⁴ Several examples of the organisation of a curriculum change process^{5, 6} are available in the literature,⁷⁻¹⁴ and a model for the analysis of sociodynamic processes during a radical curriculum change process has been published.¹⁵





A CBE-curriculum requires an awareness of educational quality¹⁶ and an effective quality management system.¹⁷ It is advised that continuity for this process is organised at the highest possible organisational level (institute, school, faculty) and that the adopted design principles and an explicit educational model (see Sections 4.3 and 4.4) are used as an internal frame of reference to guide all discussions with the involved teachers, students and other stakeholders.¹⁸ For efficient curriculum management it is advised that all education-related human and financial resources (further described in Section 4.7) are allocated at this level in order to avoid misappropriation of funds and other resources as a result of conflicts of interest between teaching, research and other institutional tasks at a lower organisational level.

4.2 Preparation

The main function of a framework for CBE is to give direction to the curriculum development process. Starting from a needs-based analysis, explicit descriptions of the required competencies for an entry-level pharmacist are formulated, which follow from an analysis of the professional requirements in the local context. A recent systematic review¹⁹ identified 53 pharmacy-related frameworks, 22 of which relate to requirements for entry-level pharmacists at a nation-wide level. In addition, FIP has published a global framework,^{20, 21} and many other frameworks address requirements for specific sectors or specialisations within pharmacy (see reference 19 for details).

Developing a new curriculum or adapting an existing curriculum usually begins with the adoption of a published competency-based framework as a starting point. If no nation-wide CBE framework exists, a new framework needs to be developed or an existing framework needs to be adapted to the local situation. Consultation of all stakeholders (practising pharmacists, professional organisations, health care authorities) is essential²² to align the competences of graduated students to the local professional and healthcare needs and is essential for a framework to be accepted locally.^{13, 23, 24} Developing or updating a competency framework in rare cases can be the task of a curriculum committee (see Section 4.2), but usually needs to be independently tackled by a group of professionals and stakeholders with a separate mandate.^{19, 25}

An important principle in designing CBE curricula and courses is the principle of "backward design" or "reverse engineering",²⁶⁻²⁸ which means that thinking about the content and skills that need to be developed in the curriculum starts with the end (i.e., the desired competencies) in mind. Making choices to include (or exclude) disciplinary content and setting priorities is guided by the adopted competency framework and a critical analysis of the way the required
knowledge and skills can be learned in the available time for the programme (usually between four and six years). In this process it is unavoidable that difficult choices need to be made to prevent overburdening of the curriculum.²⁹ Starting from and guided by the required competencies, learning outcomes for different layers of the curriculum can explicitly be formulated (see below) and teaching/learning activities and assessments can be designed to reach the desired outcomes in an effective and efficient way.

Developing or using a competency framework for early-career level pharmacy practitioners is helpful for establishing a culture and system of seamless transition for learners from formal initial pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education and training (IPET) to post-registration professional development. The FIP GbCF was developed to support foundation level/early-career level practitioners (the immediate post-licensure foundational period of perhaps one to two years).²¹ Using the "backward design", competencies and behavioural indicators for early-career practitioners can lead to learning outcomes for the specific IPET programme. For CDTs to define intended learning outcomes using the FIP GbCF or any other locally useful foundation/early-career level competency framework, Miller's pyramid³⁰ is helpful to identify the level of behaviours desired at graduation or day 1 of professional registration.

4.3 Curriculum design

CBE relies on social constructivist psychological principles (see Chapter 2), where educational methods focus on the learning of students.³¹⁻³³ Students construct meaning from what they do during their learning activities and the teaching/learning environment is designed in such a way that students cannot escape from learning (Table 3). The learning of students is not only influenced by their perception of assessment tasks, but also by the way teaching is delivered, by the teacher behaviour, and by the rules and regulations which pertain to the curriculum. The principles of constructive alignment^{10, 32, 34} can be used to align all aspects of the teaching/ learning environment.

Knowledge construction	Students are given multiple opportunities to investigate real problems, raise questions and search for possible explanations while using various methodological approaches.
In-depth learning	Students are given opportunities to deeply explore a certain subject matter, rather than engaging them in surface learning.
Authenticity	Students are given meaning to the learned concepts and addressing real-life and interesting events, which are related to the studied topic.
Multiple perspectives	Students are presented with complex ideas from several points of view.
Prior knowledge	Subject materials in individual courses are reused in subsequent courses' topics. Repetitive teaching is avoided as much as possible, but students are stimulated to reactivate earlier knowledge.
Teacher-student interaction	The teacher role is student-oriented, which includes guidance toward reflection on the learning processes.
Cooperative dialogue	Refers to dialogical activities during the lesson in which students can express opinions and original ideas.
Social interaction	Students are experiencing a variety of learning activities together with other students, not necessarily during contact hours only.

Table 3. Characteristics of a constructivist curriculum (after Alt ³³)

A CBE curriculum is much more than a collection of courses. Sequencing of and relationships between courses (with respect to content and educational methods) needs to be carefully designed. Frequently, the curriculum is described as a "spiral",^{9, 35} where related content and skills are addressed repeatedly during each passage of a "curriculum layer" (Figure 10). The number of curriculum layers is somewhat arbitrary, but distinguishing between three or more layers (e.g., year 1, bachelor, master, postgraduate) can be used to structure a curriculum and to define developmental

milestones for students, using explicit descriptions of learning outcomes for each layer. Attainment of milestones can also be used to determine whether students will be allowed to progress to a next stage of the programme, comparable to passing formal bachelor- or master-degrees.

Figure 10: Schematic representation of a spiral curriculum (adapted, with permission, from an original of the British Columbia Institute of Technology, Bachelor of Science in Nursing programme, Burnaby, Canada³⁶)



As students usually enter a pharmacy curriculum directly from secondary school or from a previous bachelor's programme — where most subjects are taught by discipline — the spiral curriculum must realise a change from a discipline focus of student learning to a practice-oriented and integrated approach. This transformation can be brought about by the careful orchestration of logically sequenced courses (or modules) with increasing complexity and integration of disciplinary content and skills (*cf.* reference 36). In a CBE curriculum, a gradual approach, where students are moving from learning skills in isolation to application of skills in the context of professionally relevant tasks, is advocated.^{10, 36} This can be achieved by using problem- and project-based learning methods in early phases of the curriculum, with a gradual increase in the complexity of assignments or projects as the curriculum progresses.³⁷⁻³⁹ In later stages of the curriculum, simulations of pharmacy practice⁴⁰⁻⁴² and organising the curriculum around entrustable professional activities (see Section 4.5) can train students in real-life pharmacy practice situations under complex — but still safe and supervised — conditions.

Sequencing of content and skills in curriculum layers^{39, 43} means that the main aspects and concepts of the programme are addressed repeatedly in each layer. By introducing all concepts already at the first layer in a relatively simple way, students are made familiar with the different disciplines and their mutual relationships and with a perspective on the scientific basis of their chosen profession. At the following layers, the conceptual framework is further detailed and

increasingly elaborated in a context which is relevant for the future profession. The curriculum can be structured by explicitly defining learning outcomes for each curricular layer with respect to discipline content, cognitive skills, practical skills and related assessments. Boundary crossing between formal university and informal workplace learning can be eased by considering specific design guidelines.^{44, 45}

The main task of a curriculum committee is to design a curriculum structure where all longitudinal aspects of the programme (see Section 4.4) and feedback/assessment formats (see Section 4.5) are translated into building blocks (courses, modules, rotations and other activities) with increasing complexity and level of integration. At the same time, curriculum organisation is usually restrained by existing institutional scheduling (e.g., semester structure) and timetabling rules (e.g., available timeslots for contact hours). The designed curriculum, therefore, needs to be a creative solution for a multifactorial problem, compromising between an educationally desirable solution and existing practical possibilities (boundaries). Because local contexts can vary widely, it is extremely difficult to suggest a generic curriculum structure, but in the literature several examples are available from Finland,^{10, 11} USA,^{1, 2} Ireland,⁴⁶ Saudi Arabia,¹² the Netherlands^{38, 47} and Australia.⁴⁸ An example of apparently quite different implementations of a three-year master programme, based on the same competency framework, is available in the literature.²⁵

4.4 Overarching themes

Overarching themes and specialisations can be used to structure the curriculum at a higher level than the constituent courses; this can help students with mental integration of curriculum content. Related courses can be scheduled in parallel (or sequentially) and can be made recognisable for the students as "tracks", "lines" or "strands". Examples are the scheduling of disciplinary courses under two overarching themes, e.g., "Patients, therapeutics and safety" and "Product, quality and analysis" (Groningen University, the Netherlands),²⁵ or arranging individual courses under six different strands (in the bachelor programme) or two modules (in the master programme) at Helsinki University, Finland.^{10, 11} At the University of British Columbia, Canada, pharmaceutical and clinical approaches are integrated as "medication management".³⁹ When fixed combinations of courses are offered to students with exclusion of other courses, some form of differentiation or specialisation becomes possible. Although offering a variety of elective courses in general is encouraged in CBE to stimulate students to shape their own profiles, formal specialisations are rarely encountered in undergraduate pharmacy programmes.

The development of discipline content in the curriculum requires an explicit analysis of the way knowledge in different curricular domains can be built up. These analyses can be used to explicitly formulate learning outcomes that students are expected to have reached at intermediate milestones of the curriculum. Once these intermediate milestones are described, they can be used to define the actual course content (see Section 4.6) on distinct levels of the curriculum. Examples of explicit descriptions of curriculum layers for several content domains can be found in the literature, e.g., for pharmacokinetics¹⁸ and pharmacovigilance.⁴⁹

A gradual increase in the extent of integration of skills as the curriculum progresses requires also that the development of skills and their integration with the content of the curriculum is explicitly analysed and translated into teaching and learning activities which confront students with challenging tasks during the whole curriculum. This requires that awareness and knowledge about the learning of skills must be present among the teachers and that some overarching description is available of the way development of skills can be taught and how it needs to be organised, monitored and assessed. An example of a curriculum layer description for the skills domain "oral communication" is shown in Figure 11. Figure 11. Curriculum layer outcomes for the skills domain "oral communication" in a European curriculum (Utrecht University), where the pharmacy programme is divided in a separate bachelor and master degree (reproduced from Koster *et al* 2017,¹⁸ with permission).



An efficient way to organise monitoring of skills and content evolution in the curriculum can be realised by making teachers or committees responsible for the development of different skills and content tracks; see Malone⁴⁸ and Wolters⁵⁰ for examples related to communication skills. These teachers are stimulated to specialise in these didactic areas and can participate in local networks with teachers from other departments, faculties or universities. Within the pharmacy programme, they function as consultants to the teachers who are responsible for detailing individual courses. An example of a set of content consultants and skills consultants is given in Table 4. Other track or stream coordination functions have been described in the literature.^{7, 10, 48}

Table 4. An example of curriculum content and skills consultants (Utrecht University, the Netherlands). During curriculum development individual teachers were given the task of consultant to monitor the longitudinal content and skills lines in the curriculum.

Curriculum content	Curriculum skills
Physiology and pathology	Information processing
Biotechnology	Written communication
Biomolecular chemistry	Oral communication
Pharmacodynamics	Methodology, statistics
Pharmacokinetics	Laboratory skills
Pharmaceutical technology	Compounding skills
Therapeutics and pharmacoepidemiology	Management
Biomedical analysis	Metacognition
Toxicology	Ethics and law

Active participation of content and skills consultants is strongly advised, in particular during initial development, evaluation and major reconstruction of a curriculum. Consultants can participate in curriculum committees and CDTs but can also advise course coordinators once a new curriculum is established. It is a matter of choice whether the function of content and skills consultants needs to be known to the students ("front office" function) or whether they serve only as advisors to curriculum committee and CDTs ("back office" function). Combining a consultant role (for communication, for example) with a role as teacher or instructor in courses and skills laboratories is desirable.

4.5 Feedback and assessment

CBE requires that knowledge and skills are assessed on a regular basis to identify existing gaps and to establish professional growth. It is required that students will frequently receive feedback on their performance in authentic assessment situations.^{18, 51, 52} Preferably a wide range of assessment types is used, which are not limited to the lower levels of Miller's pyramid ("knows" and "knows how"³⁰). Giving feedback on the higher levels "shows how" and "does" in authentic learning situations becomes increasingly important as the student progresses in the programme(s). Formative assessment (or assessment for learning) is intended to monitor student learning, and to inform teachers and students about progress in the learning process. Formative assessment essentially has a feedback purpose and can help students to identify their strengths and the areas that need additional attention. In contrast, the goal of summative assessment (or assessment of learning) is to evaluate and grade students at the end of a course or at predefined milestones in the curriculum by comparing their behaviour to some standard or benchmark. The overall purpose of summative assessments is to guarantee that each individual student has fulfilled the curricular requirements and that at the end of the curriculum a student can be declared competent.^{53, 54}

To maintain student motivation and to prevent student burnout, overburdening the curriculum with multiple assessments should be avoided. It is better to concentrate on a limited number of well-chosen summative assessments and invest more in frequent feedback and formative assessments. Spreading assessment periods over the study year and making assessment an integral part of courses and rotations results in a system of continuous assessment, which improves study behaviour and minimises test anxiety and student burnout.^{55, 56} In a full programmatic assessment system the distinction between feedback, formative assessments and summative assessments is blurred because the same assessment tasks can serve a formative and summative purpose at the same time.^{52, 57-59}

In addition to conventional assessment through written or oral examinations, authentic assessment tasks have an important role in CBE. Authentic assessment tasks mimic aspects of the future professional life of the students and can greatly contribute to student motivation, but designing such assessments remains a challenging task.^{60, 61} As the curriculum progresses, assessment tasks usually increase in complexity to maintain consistency with the gradual evolution of the curriculum in the direction of professional identity (illustrated in Figure 12).

Figure 12: Curriculum layers for assessment principles (skills) in a European curriculum (Utrecht University), where the pharmacy programme is divided into separate bachelor degree and master degree programmes. A pharmacy licence is obtained as a result of obtaining the master degree, and specialisations for hospital and community pharmacy are postgraduate (reproduced from Koster *et al* 2017,¹⁸ with permission).



Recent literature reviews have analysed the validity and reliability of various assessment formats, and the authors conclude that various workplace-based assessment formats (Table 5) have great potential in competency-based education.^{52, 62} Short practice observations, directly observed preparation skills, case-based discussions, critical appraisals of topics and multisource feedback, when used in real working situations, are highly authentic and have reasonable validity and reliability.⁵³ The use of objective structured clinical examinations (OSCE) is relatively well investigated.^{63, 64}

Assessment tool	Description
Objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) ^{63, 64}	An OSCE usually comprises a circuit of short stations (usually 5–10 minutes although sometimes up to 15 minutes), in which each student or trainee is examined on a one-to-one basis with one or two examiners and either real or simulated patients.
Case-based discussion ⁶⁵ Entrustment-based discussion ⁶⁶	A written report, followed by a short oral discussion with the student or trainee. Used to assess pharmacotherapy-related cases; in entrustment-based discussions, safety risks are especially important.
Critical appraisal of a topic ^{67, 68}	A written report, based on a critical analysis of a case, and supported by a review of the relevant literature.
Short practice observation or directly observed preparation skills ⁶⁹	Observation of work in practice (e.g., a patient consultation, compounding skills, logistic problem-solving, teaching activity), which is documented with a judgement.
Product evaluation ⁷⁰	Evaluation by the student or trainee of patient records and other written materials. The quality of the written report is assessed in a structured way.
Reflective writing ⁷¹	A written self-reflection on a task performed, which is afterwards discussed with an assessor or supervisor.
Multisource feedback ^{72, 73}	Observations of trainees' competencies by other pharmacists in the working environment, by pharmacy technicians, general practitioners and patients. Data are collected by way of an electronic questionnaire, and include a self-assessment by the trainee.
Script concordance test ⁷⁴	A written test, where clinical reasoning skills are assessed by asking students to respond to a case vignette. Student responses are not scored as correct or incorrect but are compared to responses of an expert group.

Table 5. Examples of authentic feedback and assessment formats.²⁵

A relatively recent approach to deal with the complex nature of CBE is to use entrustable professional activities (EPAs) for the operationalisation of educational outcomes at the transition of undergraduate education to professional working life.^{58, 75-77} EPAs are carefully described aspects of professional performance in the workplace,⁷⁸ which are used to structure learning, training and assessment. In this context, undergraduate education, entry into professional life, further specialisation and postgraduate training become a flexible educational continuum where training and assessment are structured by using EPAs as building blocks. In this model, the required competence level at graduation for each EPA is defined as "level of entrustment" rather than "level of competence".⁷⁹

Because EPAs are linked to daily practice, they are suited for both training and assessment purposes. Within a programme, EPAs can be mapped to the required competences and levels of entrustability.^{13, 25, 58, 80, 81} For each EPA, the best type of assessment instrument (Table 5) can be selected based on the content and function of the instrument and the competencies that are measured. For example, a short practice observation can be used to assess patient counselling, and a product evaluation can be used to assess student performance in a medication review. In addition to measuring individual EPAs, multisource feedback can be used to incorporate observations of competencies.

Portfolios (electronic or otherwise) can be used as monitoring instruments to track student progress.^{82, 83} The results of assessments and evaluations are recorded in an organised and traceable way. In addition, the portfolio can be used to collect students' individual work, personal development plans and reflection documents.⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶ The portfolio is primarily maintained by the student or trainee, but supervisors or assessors can be given allowance to add feedback and student evaluations. The portfolio functions as a central repository to record the competence development of the student and can be used to assess whether students have reached or passed predefined milestones in the curriculum.

4.6 Course and module design

Instructions for the design and implementation of a course are usually described by a curriculum committee and are derived from the overall curriculum design (see Section 4.3). As described above, the extent of integration of disciplinary content and skills within each course can be very different, depending on the position of the course within the curriculum structure. The main task of each course development team will be to translate the course design specifications into an optimal set of teaching/learning activities and related assessment formats. The selection of educational and assessment formats will largely depend on considerations of learning effectivity but can be restrained when a particular teaching or learning approach (e.g., problem-, project-, team-, case- or inquiry-based learning) is "prescribed" by institutional policy considerations. A CDT needs to find an optimal solution within the boundaries set by the overall educational guidelines, longitudinal curriculum themes (see Section 4.4) and assessment principles (see Section 4.5). Constructive alignment of all aspects of the teaching/learning environment can be considered as an important design principle.³²

Integration of disciplinary content and skills is usually considered an important, but complicated aspect.⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰ If courses are designed as "integrated", "thematic" or "methodological", course development begins with a clear course goal (usually defined by the curriculum committee) and the selection of optimal teaching/ learning and assessment formats which are considered effective in reaching the set goal and intended learning outcomes. Within the available time frame of a course, sequencing of teaching/learning activities and timing of contact hours need to be carefully designed, and can be optimised based on iterative course evaluations (see Chapter 5). In the Appendix the "translation" of a course instruction document into a course outline is illustrated in detail. A schematic representation of a course can be helpful in clarifying the functional relationships between different course elements, teaching/learning activities and assessments (illustrated in Figure 13)

Figure 13. Schematic representation of course Ma101 "Chronic diseases".



Total contact hours = 42 = 42/200 = 20%

This thematic course is the first course of the master programme (MSc in Pharmacy, following a three-year BSc in Pharmacy programme) of Utrecht University. The course is a full-time course (five weeks, 40 h/week study load) with 20% contact time, distributed over plenary lectures (theory), case-based small group sessions, and practical training in patient communication, assessed by a written examination and a four-station OSCE. During this course, a start is made with setting up a personal professional development portfolio.

Many educational formats in small or large group format, can be used in construction of integrated courses, but a description of all possibilities is beyond the scope of this chapter. Selected inspirational examples, describing course design and evaluation in some detail, are mentioned in Table 6. Other course designs can be found in the educational literature, mainly in *Pharmacy Education*, the *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education* and *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*.

Table 6. Selected examples of integrated, thematic courses.

Title and description)	Country
Drug discovery and preclinical drug development. An inquiry-based course for pharmacy and biomedical students (BPharm, year 3, study load 200 h, 7.5 ECTS)	The Netherlands ⁹¹
Clinical reasoning. Intended to increase the ability to think about and solve clinical problems (PharmD, year 3, study load 90 h, 2 USA-credits)	USA ⁹²
Mental illness and treatment in the movies. Intended to analyse portrayal of, fundamental aspects of, and attitudes to mental illnesses (PharmD, year 2/3, study load 90 h, 2 USA-credits)	USA ⁹³
Topics in rural health practice. A course used as a starting point for a longitudinal programme (PharmD, year 3/4)	USA ⁹⁴
Pharmaceutical care in indigenous health. Intended to fill a gap and to provide culturally safe pharmaceutical care. PharmD, year 3/4, 135 h, 3 USA-credits)	Canada ⁹⁵
Pain. An elective course for pharmacy students, open to students from other programmes (BPharm, year 3, study load 200 h, 7.5 ECTS)	the Netherlands ⁹⁶
Capstone course. Used as preparatory to participate in advanced pharmacy practice experiences (PharmD, year 3, study load 135 h, 3 USA credits)	USA ⁹⁷
Leadership, entrepreneurship and administration in pharmacy. Intended to teach concepts related to management, leadership and entrepreneurship (PharmD, year 3, 270 h, 6 USA credits)	USA ⁹⁸
Contemporary social pharmacy. Intended to enhance understanding of social pharmacy and to improve teamwork.	Denmark ⁹⁹
Research evaluation presentation skills IV. Intended to enhance scientific writing skills.	Qatar ¹⁰⁰

Apart from individual courses, longitudinal projects (extending over one or more years) and a specific sequence of connected courses (sometimes indicated as "concentrations") can be used in the design of a curriculum. Examples can be found in the literature.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰⁵

4.7 Curriculum delivery

Once courses and other curricular elements are designed, the logistical consequences (in terms of contact hours, student workload, faculty/staff workload, facilities and materials budget) can be overseen. Depending on the local situation, administrative systems with various levels of detail may be available, and some constraints or boundaries may have been set already at the curriculum development stage (see Section 4.3). Within the institutional structure (university, school) individual courses will be assigned credit hours to monitor student progress and to establish exam requirements. In the European Credit Transfer System (ECTS) one credit is defined as 28 hours of study load, which includes contact hours and expected self-study and homework time. The USA-credit is defined as one hour of classroom instruction plus two hours of expected preparation and studying time, typically spread over a 15-week semester; this sums to 45 hours of total study load per USA-credit.¹⁰⁶ Total programme duration can vary country-by-country, e.g., five years minimum in Europe (300 ECTS, consisting of a three-year BPharm and a two-year MPharm programme), four-year MPharm in UK, four years in USA (*circa* 200 USA credits, PharmD programme, after obtaining a prior bachelor's degree) or undivided five-year BPharm programmes in other countries.

Student workload will depend on the number of contact hours (when students are supposed to be in direct contact with teachers, supervisors, trainers or other students, and examinations) and the time needed for preparing class and laboratory meetings, home assignments, independent groupwork, self-study and examinations. When designing

courses, it is important to make an estimate of all these elements and to organise a course in such a way that study load is equally spread over the course period. The percentage of contact hours (expressed as a percentage of total course study load) should, in general, not be below 20% or above 70% to maintain student motivation and "course flow" (jeopardised by too-low percentages) and to not compromise self-study time (at higher percentages); relatively high percentages are warranted only for courses where practical training (e.g., compounding, communication) is an essential element of the course goals. A careful design of tasks and assignments, combined with regular course evaluations (see Chapter 5), can help in optimising the scheduling of contact hours within the overall course structure. It should be noted that inter-individual variation between students in real and perceived study load is extensive, which further illustrates the need for regular course evaluations. Including education specialists in CDTs and small action research projects can be helpful.

Teacher workload will depend on the number of contact hours and the time needed to prepare for student contacts (lectures, group and laboratory sessions, individual guidance and tutoring) and all other tasks related to curriculum delivery (for a detailed discussion, see McLaughlin *et al*¹⁰⁷ and Ujir *et al*¹⁰⁸). Ideally, the institution should have an administrative system (spreadsheet or otherwise) for recording the teaching workload of individual teachers and other staff (e.g., technicians) involved. How real and perceived teaching load is experienced by individual teachers will be influenced by interest, teaching experience and other competing tasks within the organisation. An administrative system for explicit allocation of teaching tasks and some flexibility in applying it can help in maintaining transparency and prevent potential debates about teaching task expectations.

Programme workload can be calculated from the sum of teaching workload of all curricular elements (primary teaching load). In addition, estimates and task allocations must be made for other tasks and roles within the curriculum, such as track coordinators, laboratory managers, content and skills consultants, a programme coordinator or programme director, and participation in curriculum advisory committees (secondary teaching load). Such tasks are assigned best on a temporary basis to individuals who are suitable and willing to do the task-at-hand; combination with primary roles as a teacher is preferred. If the institution has an interest in quality enhancement by regular evaluations and curriculum updates, action research projects, applied educational research and teacher professionalisation (see Chapter 5), additional tasks can be assigned to interested individuals (tertiary teaching load).

The total teaching workload of a pharmacy programme will, of course, depend on the number of students, the educational and assessment formats and the standards used in assigning teaching load to the major elements of the curriculum (see previous paragraphs). Finding a transparent, simple, way of calculating teaching load that can be easily communicated to teachers and other stakeholders is preferably done by the curriculum committee or the programme director, or both. An institution will have some administrative system in place, but introduction of CBE can make adaptations or further refinements necessary. An example of calculating the teaching load of a course is given in the Box below.

Box. Calculation of course workload.

The teaching load of the pharmacy programme (Utrecht University) is calculated using the following standards:

- Group sizes (number of students during contact hours) are 100 (plenary lectures), 60 (computerassisted sessions), 30 (workshops, laboratory sessions), 15 (small-group sessions, *e.g.* PBL, selected laboratory sessions) or 8 (selected training sessions, *e.g.*, patient communication).
- Teaching load is estimated to be 3h (for plenary lectures) or 1.5h (for computer-assisted sessions, workshops, laboratory sessions, small-group sessions, and selected training sessions) per contact

hour per group of students. In addition, 1h of teaching load per student is assigned for all tests and examinations in a course, irrespective of the specific testing format(s) used.

Example of a calculation: The teaching load of a typical course with 180 participating students (64 contact hours, 200h study load, 32% contact time), with 14h of plenary lectures (2 groups), 25h of workshops and other group meetings (assignments, calculations, discussions; 6 groups), 16h of laboratory experiments (6 groups), and 8h of examinations (mid-course, end-of-course, and final group presentations) can be estimated as $2 \times 14 \times 3$ (lectures) + $6 \times 25 \times 1.5$ (workshops) + $6 \times 16 \times 1.5$ (laboratory experiments) + 180 = 84 + 225 + 144 + 180 = 633h. This equals 633/1,600 = 0.40 full time equivalent of teaching or 633/180 = 3.52h per participating student. A full time equivalent of teaching equals 1,600h (40 weeks of 40h) per year.

The example is taken from the curriculum of Utrecht University and involves a 200h study load course for 180 students (see also the Appendix).

Facilities (lecture halls, group spaces, library, computer facilities, online resources) for a CBE programme can be different from those required for traditional forms of education. This mainly relates to the availability of spaces for small group sessions and flexible laboratory designs. Also in this case, course development teams and programme management usually need to compromise between that which is educationally desirable and that which is possible in the local circumstances. Nevertheless, full implementation of a CBE curriculum requires attention to providing optimal facilities in the long run. Regular course and curriculum updates (see Chapter 5) can be instrumental in providing the necessary information.

4.8 Setting priorities

What can you do if you want to implement aspects of CBE or develop a completely new curriculum, but have limited resources to do so? The description of the implementation process, given above, assumes that all stages of curriculum development — starting from a competency framework through a curriculum design and development of individual courses and other curriculum elements — will be followed sequentially. The following suggestions describe an effective approach.

Preferably an institutional decision to embark in principle on a CBE curriculum and a first selection of a suitable competency framework have been made. It is not necessary to have a fully developed and detailed framework initially, because first steps can be taken on the basis of CBE design principles. Ideally, existing frameworks will be guiding in curriculum development, but it is also possible that curriculum development and framework adaptations (inspired by a needs-based analysis) follow a similar timeframe. In all cases It is a good idea to continuously inform as many stakeholders as possible (within and outside the institution) about the progress of changes made and foreseen in the programme.

A general strategy could be giving priority to easing the transition of students from university to practice settings (workplace learning, authentic assessments) and working backward to earlier parts of the curriculum when time, funding and experience of organisation develops. This means that initial attention must be given to the transition from formal academic learning to practical experiential learning.^{25, 45} This "boundary crossing" process is complex^{109, 110} and can be eased by introducing elements of pharmacy practice into the undergraduate curriculum and by supporting and guiding pharmacy practitioners in their early career to ease the transition.⁴⁴ Introducing (introductory and advanced) pharmacy practice experiences and introduction of authentic feedback assessment formats (see Section 4.5, Table 5) must have priority. It should be noted that training and supporting teachers, instructors and preceptors in their new roles is usually required (see Chapter 6).

When the availability of human and financial resources improves, elements of CBE can be introduced into earlier parts of the curriculum. Modification of existing courses by introducing elements of CBE without disrupting the overall

curriculum structure is possible. Applying the principles of social constructivist learning (see Section 4.3, Table 3) to new or updated courses can be used as guidance. Development of skills (in particular the soft skills such as communication or development of professionalism) needs timeframes longer than a typical course and these elements are preferably organised as longitudinal lines in the curriculum. Such a process of gradual evolutionary change requires a long-term vision and continuity of curriculum management, where a programme director or coordinator, skills consultants and educational consultants can have important roles. Changes in early parts of the curriculum necessarily will have consequences for later parts, which illustrates the need for regular course and curriculum adaptations guided by regular evaluations of the course as part of a quality enhancement system (see Chapter 5).

The next step to complete implementation of a CBE curriculum could be reconsidering integration of disciplinary content and skills development in individual courses. Placing existing individual courses under overarching "lines", "track" or "themes" — without changing the actual course content and organisation itself — can be considered a relatively weak form of integration, while redesigning and developing individual courses by backward engineering can lead to higher levels of integration.^{28, 90, 111}

Reconsidering course sequencing, setting milestones, defining curriculum layers (see Section 4.3) and adapting student progress administration systems accordingly can increase the freedom for students to travel through the curriculum via different routes or at different speeds, and can be considered the final stage in the development of an ideal CBE curriculum.¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴ Introducing EPAs and a programmatic assessment system (see Section 4.5) can also be seen as a final development stage.

CBE can be introduced through an evolutionary or a revolutionary process. The final result can be the same, but the timeframe and the necessary resources can be very different. A radical change can only be successful when a specific — sometimes unique — combination of urgency, institutional commitment and leadership, stakeholder involvement, and available time and funding is present.^{5, 6, 115, 116} In all other cases an evolutionary road to competency-based education will only be possible by the long-term commitment of dedicated pharmacy teachers, which have found their *ikigai* (Figure 14).



Figure 14. An illustration of the Japanese concept of *ikigai*.¹¹⁷

Ikigai is a Japanese concept that means your "reason for being". *Iki* in Japanese means "life" and *gai* describes value or worth. Your *ikigai* is your life purpose or your bliss. It is what brings you joy and inspires you to get out of bed every day.¹¹⁸

References

- 1. Ryan, S.M. and Beck, D.E., Use of an Education Specialist Team that Collaborates with Faculty Members to Efficiently and Continuously Develop an Innovative Pharmacy Curriculum Across Multiple Campuses. TechTrends, 2018;62:230-238.
- 2. Youmans, S. and Ferrone, M., PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION: Design and implementation of a novel doctor of pharmacy curriculum. Pharmacy Education, 2021;21:538-545.
- 3. Al-Eraky, M.M., Curriculum navigator: Aspiring towards a comprehensive package for curriculum planning. Medical Teacher, 2012;34:724-732.
- 4. Tuckman, B.W. and Jensen, M.A.C., Stages of Small-Group Development Revisited. Group & Organization Studies, 1977;2:419-427.
- 5. Bland, C.J., Starnaman, S., Wersal, L., et al., Curricular change in medical schools: how to succeed. Academic medicine, 2000;75:575-594.
- 6. Lemay, J. and Moreau, P., Managing a curriculum innovation process. Pharmacy, 2020;8:153.
- 7. Conway, S.E., Medina, M.S., Letassy, N.A., et al., Assessment of streams of knowledge, skill, and attitude development across the doctor of pharmacy curriculum. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2011;75.
- 8. Nelson, M., Allison, S.D., McCollum, M., et al., The Regis Model for pharmacy education: A highly integrated curriculum delivered by Team-Based Learning[™](TBL). Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2013;5:555-563.
- 9. Husband, A.K., Todd, A., and Fulton, J., Integrating science and practice in pharmacy curricula. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2014;78.
- 10. Katajavuori, N., Hakkarainen, K., Kuosa, T., et al., Curriculum reform in Finnish pharmacy education. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2009;73.
- 11. Katajavuori, N., Salminen, O., Vuorensola, K., et al., Competence-based pharmacy education in the University of Helsinki. Pharmacy, 2017;5:29.
- 12. Alkatheri, A.M., Albekairy, A.M., Khalidi, N., et al., Implementation of an ACPE-Accredited PharmD curriculum at a Saudi College of Pharmacy. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2019;83.
- 13. Moreau, P., Al-Taweel, D., Qaddoumi, M., et al., Becoming A Pharmacist: Education and Training. A Stepwise Approach to Competency-Based Pharmacy Education, in Encyclopedia of Pharmacy Practice and Clinical Pharmacy, Z.U.D. Babar, Editor. Elsevier: Cambridge; 2019.
- 14. Mirzaian, E. and Franson, K.L., Leading a digital transformation in pharmacy education with a pandemic as the accelerant. Pharmacy, 2021;9:19.
- 15. van Poucke, A., Towards radical innovation in knowledge-intensive service firms. 2005, Erasmus University: Rotterdam.
- 16. Legemaate, M., Grol, R., Huisman, J., et al., Enhancing a quality culture in higher education from a socio-technical systems design perspective. Quality in Higher Education, 2021:1-14.
- 17. Kleijnen, J., Dolmans, D., Willems, J., et al., Effective quality management requires a systematic approach and a flexible organisational culture: a qualitative study among academic staff. Quality in Higher Education, 2014;20:103-126.
- 18. Koster, A., Schalekamp, T., and Meijerman, I., Implementation of Competency-Based Pharmacy Education (CBPE). Pharmacy, 2017;5:10.
- 19. Udoh, A., Bruno-Tomé, A., Ernawati, D.K., et al., The development, validity and applicability to practice of pharmacy-related competency frameworks: A systematic review. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2021;17:1697-1718.
- 20. International Pharmaceutical Federation. A Global Competency Framework version 1. The Hague:FIP; 2012. Available from: <u>https://www.fip.org/file/1412</u>.
- 21. International Pharmaceutical Federation. Executive Summary: FIP Global Competency Framework Version 2 Supporting the development of foundation and early career pharmacists. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2020. Available from: https://www.fip.org/file/5127.
- 22. Porter, A.L., Portillo, E.C., Gallimore, C.E., et al., Let external stakeholders be your guide to curricular revision. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2020;84.
- 23. Bheekie, A., Van Huyssteen, M., and Coetzee, R., Exploring the implications of a needs-based pharmacy education framework modelled on population health: Perspective from a developing country. Pharmacy, 2019;7:116.
- 24. Meilianti, S., Smith, F., Bader, L., et al., Competency-based education: Developing an advanced competency framework for Indonesian pharmacists. Frontiers in medicine, 2021:2265.

- 25. Koster, A.S., Mantel-Teeuwisse, A.K., Woerdenbag, H.J., et al., Alignment of CanMEDS-based undergraduate and postgraduate pharmacy curricula in The Netherlands. Pharmacy, 2020;8:117.
- 26. Daugherty, K.K., Backward course design: making the end the beginning. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2006;70.
- 27. Emory, J., Understanding backward design to strengthen curricular models. Nurse Educator, 2014;39:122-125.
- 28. Wright, B.M., Hornsby, L., Marlowe, K.F., et al., Innovating pharmacy curriculum through backward design. TechTrends, 2018;62:224-229.
- 29. Angelo, T.A., McLaughlin, J.E., Munday, M.R., et al., Defining core conceptual knowledge: Why pharmacy education needs a new, evidence-based approach. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2022;14:929-932.
- 30. Miller, G.E., The assessment of clinical skills/competence/performance. Academic Medicine, 1990;65:S63-7.
- 31. Blumberg, P., Maximizing learning through course alignment and experience with different types of knowledge. Innovative Higher Education, 2009;34:93-103.
- 32. Biggs, J.B. and Tang, C.S., Teaching for Quality Learning at University (4th ed.). Maidenhead: Open University Press; 2011.
- 33. Alt, D., The construction and validation of a new scale for measuring features of constructivist learning environments in higher education. Frontline learning research, 2014;2:1-28.
- 34. Kaartinen-Koutaniemi, M. and Katajavuori, N., Enhancing the development of pharmacy education by changing pharmacy teaching. Pharmacy Education, 2006;6:197-208.
- 35. Harden, R.M. and Stamper, N., What is a spiral curriculum? Medical Teacher, 1999;21:141-143.
- 36. Boyce, E.G. and Lawson, L.A., Preprofessional curriculum in preparation for doctor of pharmacy educational programs. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2009;73:155.
- 37. Miller, B.M., Moore Jr, D.E., Stead, W.W., et al., Beyond Flexner: a new model for continuous learning in the health professions. Academic Medicine, 2010;85:266-272.
- 38. Meijerman, I., Nab, J., and Koster, A.S., Designing and implementing an inquiry-based undergraduate curriculum in pharmaceutical sciences. Currents in pharmacy teaching and learning, 2016;8:905-919.
- Loewen, P.S., Gerber, P., McCormack, J., et al., Design and implementation of an integrated medication management curriculum in an entry-to-practice doctor of pharmacy program. Pharmacy Education, 2016;16:122-130.
- 40. Fens, T., Hope, D.L., Crawshaw, S., et al., The international pharmacy game: a comparison of implementation in seven universities world-wide. Pharmacy, 2021;9:125.
- 41. Hope, D.L., Grant, G.D., Rogers, G.D., et al., PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION: Integration of an extended, immersive, gamified pharmacy simulation as a capstone event. Pharmacy Education, 2021;21:656-669.
- 42. Oestreich, J.H. and Guy, J.W., Game-based learning in pharmacy education. Pharmacy, 2022;10:11.
- 43. O'Neill, G., Donnelly, R., and Fitzmaurice, M., Supporting programme teams to develop sequencing in higher education curricula. International Journal for Academic Development, 2014;19:268-280.
- 44. Elvira, Q., Imants, J., Dankbaar, B., et al., Designing education for professional expertise development. Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, 2017;61:187-204.
- 45. Tynjälä, P., Perspectives into learning at the workplace. Educational research review, 2008;3:130-154.
- 46. Ryan, T.J., Grimes, T., Henman, M.C., et al., Design and implementation of an integrated competency-focused pharmacy programme: a case report. Pharmacy, 2019;7:121.
- 47. Koster, A.S. and Vermunt, J.D., Longitudinal changes of Deep and surface learning in a constructivist pharmacy curriculum. Pharmacy, 2020;8:200.
- 48. Malone, D., Galbraith, K., White, P.J., et al., Development of a Vertically Integrated Pharmacy Degree. Pharmacy, 2021;9:156.
- 49. van Eekeren, R., Rolfes, L., Koster, A.S., et al., What future healthcare professionals need to know about pharmacovigilance: introduction of the WHO PV core curriculum for university teaching with focus on clinical aspects. Drug safety, 2018;41:1003-1011.
- 50. Wolters, M., van Paassen, J.G., Minjon, L., et al., Design of a pharmacy curriculum on patient centered communication skills. Pharmacy, 2021;9:22.
- 51. Nelson, N.R., Carlson, R.B., Corbett, A.H., et al., Feedback for Learning in Pharmacy Education: A Scoping Review. Pharmacy, 2021;9:91.
- 52. Croft, H., Gilligan, C., Rasiah, R., et al., Current Trends and Opportunities for Competency Assessment in Pharmacy Education–A Literature Review. Pharmacy, 2019;7:67.
- 53. Letassy, N.A., Medina, M.S., Britton, M.L., et al., A progressive, collaborative process to improve a curriculum and define an assessment program. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2015;79:55.
- 54. van der Vleuten, C.P., Schuwirth, L., Driessen, E., et al., A model for programmatic assessment fit for purpose. Medical teacher, 2012;34:205-214.

- 55. Schuwirth, L.W.T. and Van der Vleuten, C.P.M., Programmatic assessment: From assessment of learning to assessment for learning. Medical Teacher, 2011;33:478-485.
- 56. Nicol, D.J. and Macfarlane-Dick, D., Formative assessment and self-regulated learning: a model and seven principles of good feedback practice. Studies in Higher Education, 2006;31:199-218.
- 57. Westein, M.P., Koster, A.S., Daelmans, H.E., et al., Validity evidence for summative performance evaluations in postgraduate community pharmacy education. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2022;14:701-711.
- 58. Westein, M.P., de Vries, H., Floor, A., et al., Development of a postgraduate community pharmacist specialization program using canMEDS competencies, and entrustable professional activities. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2019;83:6863.
- 59. Schuwirth, L., Van der Vleuten, C., and Durning, S., What programmatic assessment in medical education can learn from healthcare. Perspectives on Medical Education, 2017;6:211-215.
- 60. Hawkins, R.E., Welcher, C.M., Holmboe, E.S., et al., Implementation of competency-based medical education: are we addressing the concerns and challenges? Medical education, 2015;49:1086-1102.
- 61. Lockyer, J., Carraccio, C., Chan, M.-K., et al., Core principles of assessment in competency-based medical education. Medical teacher, 2017;39:609-616.
- 62. Albargouni, L., Hoffmann, T., and Glasziou, P., Evidence-based practice educational intervention studies: a systematic review of what is taught and how it is measured. BMC medical education, 2018;18:1-8.
- 63. Khan, K.Z., Ramachandran, S., Gaunt, K., et al., The Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE): AMEE Guide No. 81. Part I: An historical and theoretical perspective. Medical Teacher, 2013;35:e1437-e1446.
- 64. Kristina, S.A. and Wijoyo, Y., Assessment of pharmacy students' clinical skills using objective structured clinical examination (OSCE): a literature review. Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy, 2019;10:55-60.
- 65. Williamson, J. and Osborne, A., Critical analysis of case based discussions. British Journal of Medical Practitioners, 2012;5:a514.
- 66. Ten Cate, O. and Hoff, R.G., From case-based to entrustment-based discussions. The Clinical Teacher, 2017;14:385-389.
- 67. Harris, J., Kearley, K., Heneghan, C., et al., Are journal clubs effective in supporting evidence-based decision making? A systematic review. BEME Guide No. 16. Medical Teacher, 2011;33:9-23.
- Melnyk, B.M. and Fineout-Overholt, E., Rapid critical appraisal of randomized controlled trials (RCs): An essential 68. skill for evidence-based practice (EBP). Pediatric Nursing, 2005;31:50-52.
- 69. Hirsch, A.C. and Parihar, H.S., A Capstone Course with a Comprehensive and Integrated Review of the Pharmacy Curriculum and Student Assessment as a Preparation for Advanced Pharmacy Practice Experiences. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2014;78:192.
- 70. ten Cate, O., Chen, H.C., Hoff, R.G., et al., Curriculum development for the workplace using Entrustable Professional Activities (EPAs): AMEE Guide No. 99. Medical Teacher, 2015;37:983-1002.
- 71. Sandars, J., The use of reflection in medical education: AMEE Guide No. 44. Medical Teacher, 2009;31:685-695.
- 72. Davies, J.G., Ciantar, J., Jubraj, B., et al., Use of a Multisource Feedback Tool to Develop Pharmacists in a Postgraduate Training Program. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2013;77:52.
- 73. Patel, J.P., Sharma, A., West, D., et al., An evaluation of using multi-source feedback (MSF) among junior hospital pharmacists. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice, 2011;19:276-280.
- 74. Newsom, L.C., Augustine, J., and Momary, K., Development of a script concordance test to assess clinical reasoning in a pharmacy curriculum. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2022;14:1135-1142.
- 75. Ten Cate, O., Scheele, F., and Ten Cate, T.J., Viewpoint: Competency-based postgraduate training: Can we bridge the gap between theory and clinical practice? Academic medicine, 2007;82:542-547.
- 76. Pittenger, A.L., Chapman, S.A., Frail, C.K., et al., Entrustable professional activities for pharmacy practice. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2016;80:57.
- 77. Jarrett, J.B., Berenbrok, L.A., Goliak, K.L., et al., Entrustable professional activities as a novel framework for pharmacy education. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2018;82:6256.
- 78. Ten Cate, O. and Taylor, D.R., The recommended description of an entrustable professional activity: AMEE Guide No. 140. Medical Teacher, 2021;43:1106-1114.
- 79. Croft, H., Gilligan, C., Rasiah, R., et al., Developing a validity argument for a simulation-based model of entrustment in dispensing skills assessment framework. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2020;12:1081-1092.
- 80. VanLangen, K.M., Meny, L., Bright, D., et al., Faculty perceptions of entrustable professional activities to determine pharmacy student readiness for Advanced Practice Experiences. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2019;83.
- 81. Australian Pharmacy Council. Accreditation Standards 2020 for Pharmacy Programs in Australia and New Zealand: Canberra:Australian Pharmacy 2020. Supporting Documents. Council Ltd.; Available from: https://apcwebsite.blob.core.windows.net/webfiles/0952bfa02eb0ea11a812000d3a6aa9f7/FINAL_Supporting-Documents_V4-150520.pdf?sv=2015-07-

 $\underline{08\&sr=b\&sig=qfl1bpUlzKY6NsNP63\%2BNcqlltjxvfuysXd80VlusgMs\%3D\&se=2022-10-21T14\%3A57\%3A55Z\&sp=r.$

- 82. Stupans, I., March, G., and Owen, S.M., Enhancing learning in clinical placements: reflective practice, selfassessment, rubrics and scaffolding. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 2013;38:507-519.
- Allen, S.J., Waterfield, J., and Rivers, P., An investigation of pharmacy student perception of competence-based learning using the individual Skills Evaluation and Development program, iSED[®]. Pharmacy Education, 2016;16:72-80.
- 84. Daugherty, K.K. and Cumberland, D.M., The use of portfolios in US pharmacy schools. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2018;82:6239.
- 85. Van Tartwijk, J. and Driessen, E.W., Portfolios for assessment and learning: AMEE Guide no. 45. Medical teacher, 2009;31:790-801.
- 86. Tsingos, C., Bosnic-Anticevich, S., Lonie, J.M., et al., A model for assessing reflective practices in pharmacy education. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 2015;79:124.
- 87. Pearson, M.L. and Hubball, H.T., Curricular Integration in Pharmacy Education. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2012;76:204.
- 88. Kerr, A., O'Connor, H., Pawlikowska, T., et al., A scoping review of health professional curricula: Implications for developing integration in pharmacy. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2020;16:1-16.
- 89. Aref, H.A., Wright, B.M., Davis, B.R., et al., High-level curricular integration in pharmacy schools: A systematic literature review. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2021;13:1724-1734.
- 90. DiVall, M., Abate, M.A., Blake, E.W., et al., Recommendations for integration of foundational and clinical sciences throughout the pharmacy curriculum. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2020;12:1371-1374.
- 91. Meijerman, I., Storm, G., Moret, E., et al., Development and student evaluation of an inquiry-based elective course on drug discovery and preclinical drug development. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2013;5:14-22.
- 92. Nolt, V., Cain, J., and Wermeling, D., Design and delivery of a new clinical reasoning course. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2018;10:1113-1123.
- 93. Cates, M.E., Mullins, K.M., and Woolley, T.W., Description of an elective course about mental illness and treatment in the movies. Pharmacy Education, 2019;19:108-115.
- 94. Portillo, E., Look, K., Mott, D., et al., Intentional Application of the Taba Curriculum Model to Develop a Rural Pharmacy Practice Course. Innovations in Pharmacy, 2020;11:21.
- 95. Min, J., Albon, S., Leung, L., et al., Creating a pharmacy elective course in Indigenous health. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2020;12:1004-1013.
- 96. van Houwelingen, A.H., Kusurkar, R.A., and Engels, F., Evaluation of a Multidisciplinary Bachelor Course on Pain with Autonomy-Supportive Teaching Strategies through the Lens of Self-Determination Theory. Pharmacy, 2021;9:66.
- 97. Barrickman, A.L. and Maynor, L., PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION: Implementation of a capstone course with Formative OSCEs to evaluate preparedness for Advanced Pharmacy Practice Experiences (APPE). Pharmacy Education, 2021;21:145-158.
- 98. Mager, N.D., Ernst, K.M., Parker, K.W., et al., PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION: A required course in leadership, entrepreneurship, and administration in pharmacy. Pharmacy Education, 2021;21:626-641.
- 99. Nørgaard, L.S., Møllebæk, M., Halstrøm, P.L., et al., PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION: Using real-world cases, innovation and rhetorical tools to teach social pharmacy. Pharmacy Education, 2021;21:555-568.
- 100. Osman, A., Al-Badriyeh, D., Hussain, F.N., et al., The design and implementation of an undergraduate health professional degree elective course on scientific writing, peer assessment, and critical appraisal. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2022;14:765-772.
- 101. Poirier, T.I. and Santanello, C., Impact of a Pharmacy Education Concentration on Students' Teaching Knowledge and Attitudes. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2010;74:23.
- 102. Richardson, A., Curtis, A.D., Moss, G.P., et al., Simulated drug discovery process to conduct a synoptic assessment of pharmacy students. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2014;78:41.
- 103. Dirks-Naylor, A.J., Wright, N.J., and Alston, G.L., Development and assessment of a horizontally integrated biological sciences course sequence for pharmacy education. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2015;79:89.
- 104. Ayoub, J., Pon, D., Nguyen, H.M., et al., A Longitudinal Integrative Course Series to Prepare Students for Advanced Pharmacy Practice Experiences. INNOVATIONS in pharmacy, 2022;13:12-12.
- 105. Yan, H., Zhou, H., Li, S., et al., Drug Development Chain and Professional Curriculum Chain Integrated Pharmacy Courses. INDIAN JOURNAL OF PHARMACEUTICAL EDUCATION AND RESEARCH, 2020;54:888-895.
- 106. McMillan, A. and Barber III, D., Credit hour to contact hour: Using the Carnegie unit to measure student learning in the united states. Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice, 2020;20:88-99.
- 107. McLaughlin, G.W., Montgomery, J.R., Gravely, A.R., et al., Factors in teacher assignments: Measuring workload by effort. Research in Higher Education, 1981;14:3-17.

- 108. Ujir, H., Salleh, S.F., Marzuki, A.S.W., et al., Teaching Workload in 21st Century Higher Education Learning Setting. International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education, 2020;9:221-227.
- Noble, C., Coombes, I., Nissen, L., et al., Making the transition from pharmacy student to pharmacist: Australian interns' perceptions of professional identity formation. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice, 2015;23:292-304.
- 110. Mylrea, M.F., Gupta, T.S., and Glass, B.D., Commencing and graduating pharmacy students' perceptions of their professional development during undergraduate study. Pharmacy Education, 2018;18:259-267.
- 111. Goldman, E. and Schroth, W.S., Perspective: Deconstructing integration a framework for the rational application of integration as a guiding curricular strategy. Academic Medicine, 2012;87:729-734.
- 112. Frank, J.R., Snell, L.S., Cate, O.T., et al., Competency-based medical education: theory to practice. Medical Teacher, 2010;32:638-645.
- 113. Holmboe, E.S., Sherbino, J., Englander, R., et al., A call to action: the controversy of and rationale for competencybased medical education. Medical teacher, 2017;39:574-581.
- 114. Katoue, M.G. and Schwinghammer, T.L., Competency-based education in pharmacy: A review of its development, applications, and challenges. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice, 2020;26:1114-1123.
- 115. Gibbs, G., Knapper, C., and Piccinin, S., Disciplinary and contextually appropriate approaches to leadership of teaching in research-intensive academic departments in higher education. Higher Education Quarterly, 2008;62:416-436.
- 116. Kotter, J. and Rathgeber, H., Our iceberg is melting. Changing and succeeding under any conditions (10th anniversary ed.). New York: Portfolio/Penguin; 2017.
- 117. Japan, G.o. Ikigai: The Japanese Secret to a Joyful Life. 2022. Accessed 2022 21 October; Available from: https://www.japan.go.jp/kizuna/2022/03/ikigai japanese secret to a joyful life.html.
- 118. Eatough, E. What is ikigai and how can it change my life? 2021. Accessed 2022 29 Sep; Available from: https://www.betterup.com/blog/what-is-ikigai.

Chapter 5 Evaluation of CBE implementation

Banan AbdulRzak Mukhalalati, Global Lead for Quality Assurance, FIP Workforce Development Hub, Assistant Professor, Clinical Pharmacy and Practice Department, College of Pharmacy, Health Cluster, Qatar University, Qatar **Abeer M. Al-Ghananeem,** Global Lead for Quality Assurance, FIP Workforce Development Hub, Associate Dean of Research and Professor, College of Pharmacy & Health Sciences, Sullivan University, USA

Abby A Kahaleh, Global Lead for Quality Assurance, FIP Workforce Development Hub, Tenured Faculty of clinical & Administrative Sciences, College of Science, Health & Pharmacy, Roosevelt University, USA

Pierre Moreau, FIP-AIM chairman, Former Dean and Professor, College of Pharmacy, Kuwait University, Kuwait.

With contribution from Mike Rouse, USA, and Wayne Hindmarsh, Canada.

5.1 Introduction

Multiple stakeholders recognise the significance of the quality of pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education, including governments, policymakers, regulators, professional organisations, academia, practitioners, students and their families, funders of education, accreditation agencies, quality assurance organisations, and the public served by these professionals. FIP, the WHO and UNESCO also appreciate the need to build capacity and expertise in quality assurance (QA) systems of pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education. The QA systems must ensure that educational programmes are competency-based, meet the needs of countries and their societies, and include self-assessment as well as internal and external processes and mechanisms.

Accordingly, FIP has been developing initiatives, tools, publications and resources on QA of pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education. In 2008, FIP developed the <u>Global Framework for Quality Assurance of Pharmacy</u> <u>Education</u> (QA framework)¹ as a tool to facilitate the establishment of QA systems in countries where no such formal systems exist and to improve existing systems. In 2014, the QA framework was updated to <u>version 2</u>, which includes pillars and foundations of quality of education (namely, context, structure, process, outcomes, impact, science, practice and ethics) as well as indicators and self-assessment questions.²

FIP developed a policy statement on quality assurance of pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education in 2009³ and updated it in 2022. The policy statement on QA aims to outline the guiding principles for QA of pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education and to act as a foundation for QA in education, supported by FIP's existing and forthcoming tools, frameworks and publications on QA. This policy is in line with FIP Development Goal 3 (Quality assurance), which recommends that countries should have transparent, contemporary and innovative processes for the QA of needs-based education and training systems⁴. In 2020, the global leads of the FIP Development Goal 3 published the <u>FIP pharmacy education in sub-Saharan Africa report</u>,⁵ which investigated the QA and accreditation systems across seven sub-Saharan African countries, namely, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Namibia, Nigeria, Uganda and Zambia. The report highlighted that one of the major QA challenges is the absence of internal or external QA systems in some countries. The report suggested that complying with international or regional QA standards can potentially result in implementing suitable practices for the national context. Subsequently, they developed a QA self-assessment tool for pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education, which can be used to understand the status of QA of education programmes around the world, to improve existing standards of the education and training systems, and to offer recommendations at a global level to continuously improve the QA of pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education. By using FIP's QA policy statement, frameworks, goals and self-assessment tool, pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences education can be continuously improved. This also applies to CBE, which is the preferred means of achieving needs-based education.²

5.2 Continuous quality improvement

The extent of quality improvement (QI) in education may vary among pharmacy programmes but there is no denying its importance and impact on the pharmacy profession. Pharmacists and other healthcare professionals can expect increasing levels of accountability for performance on healthcare quality metrics in today's healthcare environment.⁶ In fact, the development of the FIP Education initiative (FIP*Ed*), and more specifically the International Forum for Quality Assurance of Pharmacy Education, has assisted in education development and quality improvement.⁷

Encouraging continuous quality improvement (CQI) begins with demonstrating its significance and relevance within a pharmacy student's education and career. It is about making frequent corrections along the way as you learn from experience by gathering information from different stakeholders. We propose four steps to develop a CQI strategy (Figure 15).

Figure 15. Representation of the CQI process as a framework to build quality assurance as part of an institution's activities.



5.2.1 Data gathering

Prior to collecting data for CQI of pharmacy education, there are key questions that pharmacy administrators must address:⁸⁻¹⁰

- 1. What is the purpose of the CQI data gathering step? What are the programme's desired educational outcomes?
- 2. What are the specific questions you want to answer through this process? How will you know if you are meeting the educational outcomes?
- 3. How will you design the process? What specific data will you collect? How often you will collect data and what strategy will you be using to make changes?

To foster a culture of CQI, there are essential stakeholders, both internal and external, that must be engaged in the data collection process. The internal stakeholders must include, but are not limited to, academic staff, other staff and students. Examples of external stakeholders include preceptors, residency directors, employers, licensure bodies and accreditation agencies.

Different methods can be used to gather insight into the curriculum. The tools will be tailored to the information needed and the stakeholders providing it. Surveys, interviews, focus groups, student assessment of a course and academic staff feedback can all be used to support CQI. To be effective, data collection should be organised in a system to gather the information regularly and inform on changes and adaptations to make. As an example, each academic staff member could be invited to meet with the QA unit to debrief on how their course went after they just completed it.

Also, an evaluation from the students' perspectives should be conducted during CQI data gathering. Each pharmacy programme has unique processes for admission, progression, retention, pass rates and satisfaction. Therefore, it will be beneficial to benchmark these processes with peer institutions. For instance, collecting data from current students on the quality of faculty, courses, support services and policies will be helpful to ensure their success in the pharmacy programmes and to inform on needed improvements. Gathering data from alumni's perspective of their preparedness will be beneficial for current and future students, to improve their work readiness.

Finally, an assessment of curriculum outcomes should be included in CQI data gathering.¹¹ Each programme must develop a list of goals and desired educational outcomes. Data collection should include an assessment of students' knowledge, skills, attitudes and competence during the programme. In addition, an evaluation of all learning experiences prior to graduation should be conducted, including feedback from the preceptors who supervise students in practice. In CBE, special attention should be paid to making sure that students are competent in the different dimensions of the competency framework in use. This can be achieved by collecting competency assessment during different learning activities (like EPAs) and using a portfolio to record and analyse students' competency development and mastering. This can be done by a competency review committee that can inform on issues arising for students and proposing remediation activities (short term) and course and curriculum adaptation to improve the issues.

Ideally, a written document that highlights the following sections will be shared with all stakeholders to ensure the success of the data gathering phase of the CQI process:

- The rationale for conducting the data collection should be shared with internal and external stakeholders to
 ensure engagement in the process. This background section should include the mission, vision and core values
 of the programme.
- The second section should include a description of the data gathering process, describing the data collection methods, which may include focus groups, online surveys and telephone calls. Using various methods to collect data may increase the reliability and validity of the information.
- The last section should include logistics of the data collection phase. Specifically, the timeline and frequency of the process should be clearly included. In addition, the roles and responsibilities of the data gathering team should be identified. Finally, a description of the data collection, analysis and communication of the results should be included to ensure a successful CQI process.

5.2.2 Data analysis and recommendations

Data analysis is a process of discovering interesting patterns and knowledge from large amounts of data. However, in CQI, data can also come from less formal or quantitative datasets and from qualitative interviews, focus groups and other methods.¹²

Data analysis is important in CQI because it allows one to take informed decisions on changes in specific courses or throughout the curriculum. For example, data analysis in pharmacy education leads to a better understanding of student, course, instructor and facility data, which can then be communicated to the school administration and the different layers of the educational organisation.

Data analysis can help identify strengths and weaknesses in an educational system or programme. Therefore, it can support optimisation of performance and providing resolutions to some issues. In pharmacy education, data analysis usually covers major areas of the profession related to education, practice and regulations. Leveraging data analysis to achieve these benefits begins with a solid plan of action by creating sets of goals and expectations (see Section 5.2.1).⁹

Because the volume of data has significantly increased with the digital revolution, the need for a robust data analytics programme is an absolute must if one wants to use the information in a strategic way. Using dedicated software, this will include dimensions, categories, relationships and ways to summarise the data.¹³ There are many benefits of using data analytics tools, such as finding data faster, capturing results in an organised fashion, and creating a data-driven, decision-making culture.¹⁴

Usually, a committee or team is responsible for analysing the data and performing additional investigation and follow up if needed. Examples of these local committees or teams are a quality assurance committees or units, curriculum committees or assessment committees. In the context of CBE, data on the progression of competency development needs to be studied as well, to ensure that students are progressing according to plan. Results of performance of EPAs during rotations, for example, could be a good marker of student preparedness, as assessed by preceptors. Figure 16 illustrates the steps to take before implementing any data analysis.



Figure 16. Steps to set before implementing any data analytics QI solution

Data can also be used by national or international accreditation agency teams, government institutes of higher education, associations of colleges of pharmacy, formal or informal groups analysing data for benchmarking and educational research. Indeed, a structured CQI process can feed the research agenda of several academic staff for the purpose of scholarship of teaching and learning.¹⁵ They formulate specific recommendations, based on data analysis, to improve the situation and identify the stakeholders to implement them. Data analysis can detect historical patterns and trends from collected data and can create models that predict future trends and patterns. When used strategically, data analysis in education has the power to transform education and empower quality improvement.

5.2.3 Recommendations communicated to

Curriculum and education developments that are aimed at improving pharmacy education can face daunting challenges, reflecting the need to align changes in delivery methods and assessment practices across multiple levels and areas of the educational organisation. However, the process of planning, testing, analysing and eventually spreading those changes does not have to be overwhelming.

Recommendations constructed from data collection and analysis should be communicated to the relevant people or committees, according to their nature and scope so that they can be implemented. It can include students themselves, educators (individual or teams), department chairs, the school's curriculum committee, or any other official institutional committee if changes to the curriculum need formal approval (like changing credit numbers of changing the sequence of courses).² Mandate, resources, and a timeline for implementation should be agreed upon from the beginning. Each recommendation should be documented and become part of a follow up system that will allow its proper implementation.

Information gathered should include:

- A summary of the data that triggered a recommendation;
- The recommendation to be implemented;
- The person, team or committee responsible for the recommendation;
- The timeline for implementation; and
- Success of the actual implementation (actions taken in the implementation step).

Documentation is also important to report to other stakeholders the actions that were done as problems or issues were identified, and to demonstrate that CQI is part of the institution's culture. Stakeholders to communicate with can include individual educators, students and prospective students, other schools of pharmacy, providers of continuing education, the public, patients (consumers of pharmacist services), state and federal governments (i.e., ministries of education), professional and scientific associations, accreditation agencies, employers of pharmacists, regulatory bodies and other healthcare professionals.²

5.2.4 Implementation of recommendations

A committee or team can be tasked to follow up with the implementation of the recommendations by the appropriate stakeholders. This is the only way to guarantee that the CQI loop will be completed (Figures 15 and 17). Expected adaptations and changes can be at a course level, or all the way to a major change in the curriculum. The amount of people involved in the implementation will thus vary. Some issues can be fixed quickly and others can take months. It is therefore important to have a follow-up mechanism.

In the future, when data are gathered again according to the CQI timeline, it will be possible to revert to the previous documented recommendations and actions and determine if they were successful, or not, in improving situations that were flagged initially, leading to continuous quality improvement.



Figure 17. Example of a decision-making process applying the CQI framework. Competency assessment (in the form or a portfolio) is illustrated as one example of data collected to inform decisions on course or curriculum changes.

Key: QAU, quality assurance unit; CRC, competency review committee.

5.3 Periodical comprehensive evaluation

In addition to CQI activities discussed in Section 5.2, each institution is in a unique quality assurance environment that will usually require a periodical comprehensive evaluation of its compliance with a set of standards or criteria. As mentioned in the introduction of this chapter, FIP has developed a survey to assess the local landscape, which is in the data collection phase at the time of the handbook publication. The standards framework used in a periodic curriculum evaluation can come from the school itself, from the university for all its schools, from the ministry of education of the country or often from government or independent national, international accreditation organisations or professional accreditation organisations.

In such instances where external accreditation is required for graduates to practise, there is a lot of pressure for schools to perform well in terms of compliance with a set of standards. A lot of attention and resources will be devoted to the self-assessment study, the site visit and the rest of the process. As such, the external accreditation process can become an exceptional leverage to improve the financial situation of a school of pharmacy. It can also be used to get exceptions from strict institutional rules and regulations that hamper the capacity to move forward with international trends, like CBE. Accreditation can also become an incentive for the school to be treated more equally with others, like medical schools, which often benefit from several exceptions and special treatment to fulfil their mission while respecting external standards.

Because CBE is not widespread yet, accreditors do not require that a CBE approach be used, and they are not setting their expectations around that educational format for programmes.¹⁶ However, accreditors are pressured to foster innovation and accountability in education, and this provides a form of pressure to consider CBE as acceptable in terms of innovation efforts to produce a more competent workforce.¹⁵ In this paradigm shift, accreditors need to focus on outcomes rather than inputs (class size, staff size, student-faculty ratio).¹⁷

In any scenario of a quality assurance environment, including where there is no formal external oversight, performing a periodic curriculum evaluation every five to eight years is a very important process to review and improve the quality of education and student services. Such a reflection can form the basis of a strategic action plan that will address deficiencies related to the curriculum, the governance or the resources available. For schools that are not submitted to any external review process, FIP has developed tools that can be used to determine their relative compliance with international expectations (see Section 5.1). For instance, the publication of the Nanjing statements, aimed at providing directives of what pharmacy education should comprise, can become a benchmark for schools to assess their position with regard to these expectations (Table 7).

	Statements	Statements	Statements	Score*
	met	partially met	not met	(%)
BPharm	28	14	25	35/67
				(52)
PharmD	59	2	6	60/67
				(90)

Table 7. Assessment of the compliance to the 67 Nanjing statements during the transition from a 4-year BPharm to a 6-year PharmD at the College of Pharmacy of Kuwait University in 2018.

* Score out of 67: statement met = 1 point, partially met = 0.5 point, not met = 0.

FIP has also developed a revised quality assurance framework to specifically address competency-based education at its foundation.² The framework considers five pillars: context (external and internal to the college); structure (how the college is configured to pursue its mission); processes (activities, policies, procedures for efficient and sustainable operations); outcomes (immediate measurable results, including student competency); and impact (long-term effects on practice and society). For each pillar, a series of quality indicators is outlined to guide the self-assessment. It represents a comprehensive framework to use autonomously if there is no other external or imposed quality assurance framework.

Irrespectively of the framework or standards used, a comprehensive evaluation should include a self-assessment report and a peer-review component. Tips and tricks for each of these parts are presented below, with an emphasis on competency-based education.

5.3.1 Self-assessment

Ideally, the school already should have a structure in place, a quality assurance committee or similar, that deals with CQI (see Section 5.2) and which can be mobilised for a periodic comprehensive evaluation, such as an accreditation cycle. Furthermore, the school can create a steering committee to oversee the process. Depending on the number of dimensions to be studied, subcommittees may be formed with individuals working in those spheres. For example, there could be subcommittees working on standards related to the curriculum, governance or resources. External committee members can also be recruited to provide a complementary perspective on these subcommittees. These can include preceptors, members of higher administration, employees of the ministry of health, etc. Existing committees, such as a curriculum committee, could also provide evidence related to the curriculum, competency-based education, assessment methods and so on.

Above all, the self-assessment must be honest and transparent. This will prevent external visitors from discovering limitations that you omitted to mention. This can raise suspicion and will have a negative impact on the whole process and its outcomes. Towards that goal of transparency, the self-study report needs to outline the evidence that supports compliance with a standard, but also report any gaps or future improvements that appear to be needed. Being forthcoming will demonstrate a level of maturity and self-awareness that the reviewers will appreciate and value (Figure 18).

Figure 18. Four steps to produce a good and useful self-study report that is informative, concise and transparent.

4. Work on the quality of the report

- The general look and feel of the report provides a window on your college's attention to details and commitment to quality.
- Work wit a professional multi-media specialist if needed.

3. Reflect on areas of improvement

- Reviewers or site visitors like to have an honest view of the situation for each standard or criterion. Make a list of thinks that could be improved to further enhance compliance the the standards or criterion.
- This will become your action plan to continue your efforts to comply.



1. Gather Evidence

- Make a descriptive list of the evidence supporting your compliance to a specific standard or criterion.
- Link this outline to official documents (appendices) that present the evidence in detail.

2. Demonstrate how the evidence is relevant

- Write a short text summarizing how the evidence works together (as a process) to support your compliance to the standard or criterion.
- Illustrate the process, if possible, with a figure or a table.

If the accreditation body uses competence outcomes as standards (like the Canadian Council for Accreditation of Pharmacy Programs and the Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education), it will be easy to demonstrate compliance if using a CBE model that relies on the framework used by the accreditation body. Indeed, by creating a map of the competence practice and assessment activities throughout the curriculum, compliance should be straightforward. Regrouping competency elements from the total competency framework into EPAs, simplifies the matter even more, as competence practice and assessment are integrated into meaningful professional activities that can be practised in the college and during external rotations.¹⁸

In contrast, in knowledge-based curricula, the link between knowledge and competence is more difficult to demonstrate. A map of the learning objectives for each course and how they relate to the competency elements of the competency framework could be created. This is a less straightforward task and often requires a leap of faith that "knowing" equals "knowing how to use the knowledge" to solve professional problems.

What can be challenging for a competency-based curriculum that includes a large proportion of integrated courses (less course structure according to disciplines), is to define the amount of each discipline included in the courses. This may be an issue if one is dealing with accreditation standards that "prescribe" a certain number of credit hours for specific pharmacy-related disciplines.

Another tip for the self-study report is to schedule a wider consultation once it is in its first draft. This will allow all stakeholders to be aware of the strengths and weaknesses identified and to comment on those. This will also help during the site visit if those stakeholders are to be met by the reviewers. A comprehensivelist of stakeholders can be seen in the FIP quality assurance framework² (see Figure 18).

5.3.2 Site visit

Site visitors are usually on a tight schedule and have a lot of work to do in a short amount of time. It is important to make sure that they have a comfortable meeting room that becomes their working base and that the groups they wish to meet are on time. If visits include training sites, ascertain that transportation to and from these is optimal. All people involved in the visit, internal and external to the college, should be briefed on their role and be expected to be transparent with the reviewers. Note some "visits" may now be conducted solely online, and planning, chairing and managing these meetings well is an important consideration. For example, ensuring that the internet connection is strong and stable will ease the process.

Because the accreditation process is a learning and growing activity, the visitors should be considered as consultants or collaborators.² It is important to get as much guidance as you can for standards that seem to be unmet or partially met. For a CBE programme, ensure that your model is thoroughly explained. CBE is still relatively new, and colleges may use very different ways of practising and assessing competence. It may be useful to use images or diagrams to demonstrate how competence acquisition is built into the curriculum. If you have measures of the outcomes (employer satisfaction surveys, qualifying examination before entering practice or others), make sure that they are available for discussion.

In conclusion, periodic curriculum evaluation of the school, with a special focus on its pharmacy curriculum, is an important endeavour to ascertain the quality of the graduates. It represents a unique opportunity for reflection, planning and growth. Having external reviewers will bring additional ideas and suggestions to further improve the school in all its dimensions. When this quality assurance activity is linked to CBE, it will strengthen the profession by preparing pharmacists to be ready to offer a wider range of services to the community.

5.4 Conclusion

A curriculum developed with competency development in mind does not escape from the necessity of both CQI and periodical comprehensive evaluation. As expressed in FIP's QA framework: "Quality assurance must be a primary focus of educational institutions and all key stakeholders."² By constantly monitoring the level of performance of competencies within the curriculum and its experiential learning components, the school will be informed about the capacity of the programme to achieve the goals of graduating work-ready pharmacists. Therefore, by starting with the end in mind, CBE simplifies the quality assurance process of the curriculum, if there are structures in place to gather data, analyse them, propose recommendations and implement them (Figure 16). This will ensure that accreditation visits or other instances of periodical assessment will find a healthy curriculum that addresses local needs and produces graduates who will provide all expected professional activities to contribute to a competent pharmacy workforce.

References

- FIP Pharmacy Education Taskforce. A Global Framework for Quality Assurance of Pharmacy Education. The Hague:FIP, the International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2008. Accessed 2013 4 Mar; Available from: http://www.fip.org/files/fip/PharmacyEducation/QA%20Booklet.pdf.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation. Quality Assurance of Pharmacy Education: the FIP Global Framework 2nd ed. 2014. Accessed 2014 4th Sep; Available from: <u>http://www.fip.org/files/fip/PharmacyEducation/Quality Assurance/QA Framework 2nd Edition online version.</u> <u>pdf</u>.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation. FIP Statement of Policy: Quality Assurance of Pharmacy Education. 2009. Accessed 2013 12 March; Available from: <u>http://www.fip.org/www/uploads/database_file.php?id=302&table_id=</u>.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation. Workforce Reference Guide for FIP Development Goal 3. 2020. Accessed 2022 15 Jul; Available from: <u>https://www.fip.org/wrg-dg3</u>.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation. FIP pharmacy education in sub-Saharan Africa. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.fip.org/file/4812</u>.
- Burwell, S.M., Setting Value-Based Payment Goals HHS Efforts to Improve U.S. Health Care. New England Journal of Medicine, 2015;372:897-899.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation Education Initiative. FIPEd 5-year Action Plan 2014-2018. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2014. Available from: <u>https://www.fip.org/files/fip/vacancies/FIPEd ActionPlan_2014-2018.pdf</u>.
- 8. Oermann, M., Program evaluation: An introduction, in A systematic approach to assessment and evaluation of nursing programs, M. Oermann, Editor. National League for Nursing: Washington DC; 2017:1-6.
- 9. Halstead, J., The Accreditation Process in Nursing Education, in A systematic approach to assessment and evaluation of nursing programs, M. Oermann, Editor. National League for Nursing: Washington DC; 2017:79-91.
- 10. Ellis, P., Systematic program evaluation, in Teaching in Nursing: A guide for faculty (5th ed), D.M. Billings and J.A. Halstead, Editors. Elsevier: St. Louis; 2016:463-507.
- 11. National League for Nursing Commission for Nursing Education Accreditation. Accreditation Standards for Nursing Education Programs. Washington, DC:NLN Commission for Nursing Education Accreditation (CNEA); 2021. Available from: https://irp.cdn-website.com/cc12ee87/files/uploaded/CNEA%20Standards%20October%20201.pdf.
- 12. Bhise, R., Thorat, S., and Supekar, A., Importance of data mining in higher education system. IOSR Journal of Humanities And Social Science, 2013;6:18-21.
- 13. Han, J. and Kamber, M., Data mining: concepts and techniques, 2nd. University of Illinois at Urbana Champaign: Morgan Kaufmann, 2006.
- 14. Fischer, C., Pardos, Z.A., Baker, R.S., et al., Mining big data in education: Affordances and challenges. Review of Research in Education, 2020;44:130-160.
- 15. Ramasamy, A., Role of continuous quality improvement in higher education: limitations and interpretations. Asian Journal of Educational Research, 2017;5:96-111.
- 16. Eaton, J., Accreditation and competency-based education. The Journal of Competency-Based Education, 2016;1:12-16.
- 17. LeBlanc, P., Students First: Equity, Access, and Opportunity in Higher Education. Massachusetts: Harvard Education Press; 2021.
- 18. Moreau, P., Al-Taweel, D., Qaddoumi, M., et al., Becoming A Pharmacist: Education and Training. A Stepwise Approach to Competency-Based Pharmacy Education, in Encyclopedia of Pharmacy Practice and Clinical Pharmacy, Z.U.D. Babar, Editor. Elsevier: Cambridge; 2019.

Chapter 6 Academic capacity and faculty development

Shaun Ellen Gleason, Global Lead for Academic Capacity, FIP Workforce Development Hub; Assistant Dean for Distance Degrees and Programs and Associate Professor of Clinical Pharmacy, University of Colorado Skaggs School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, USA

Associate Professor Kirsten Galbraith, Associate Director and Global Lead for Advanced and Specialist Development, FIP Workforce Development Hub; Director, Experiential Development and Graduate Education, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Australia

6.1 The need for faculty and preceptor development

Health professional education, including pharmacy education, has been evolving to meet the changing needs of society and its learners.¹⁻³ This has become more apparent with the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, where academic, social, technologic, economic and political drivers of educational change have allowed us to reconsider pharmacy education.² In particular, changes in education delivery, pharmacists' roles and learner needs have highlighted the need for pharmacy education to transition to CBE, focusing on mastery of key skills and competencies. The success of this transition is dependent on faculty members and experiential colleagues (preceptors).¹⁻³ Providing our colleagues with the rationale for change^{2, 4, 5} and training on fundamental aspects of CBE are key to respecting and alleviating any hesitancy to adopt this new approach.⁶

6.2 Training topics

Before CBE training is embarked upon, programmes should first assure understanding of foundational education principles. FIP's Global Competency Framework for Educators and Trainers (FIP-GCFE) provides an excellent template for this training, as will professional development or education departments, if available.⁷ From there, setting the stage with a common language of CBE-related terms will provide an important foundation for CBE training. For example, clearly defining "CBE", its relationship to other education terms, such as "outcomes", "milestones" or others will help learners to understand CBE. The American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy has recently defined CBE in a comprehensive white paper on this topic.⁸

CBE principles, such as learner-centredness, less time- and classroom-centred learning, flexibility to meet needs of the learner, society and profession, and a focus on skills over content, are very different from traditional education approaches. Therefore, coverage of their importance, especially that of skills and competence, is essential to any faculty or preceptor development programme on CBE.^{1, 3-6, 9} Bajis *et al*'s reconsideration of traditional education models (Figure 5 in Chapter 2)¹⁰ depicts the CBE model well, showing its components and their relation to early and later educational stages, including in the context of life-long learning.¹¹

To address early-curriculum skills and competency development (i.e., the "shows how" level of educational models), exploring new methods of skills development activities, such as role plays, OSCEs and others, will be valuable to educators accustomed to educating through sharing knowledge.^{6, 11} As the learner progresses, reminding educators of the importance of the individual learner and introducing the role of criterion-based milestones in skills or competency-based assessment will further explain CBE principles and learner progression.^{1, 4}

Just as the learner will progress to the higher performance level (i.e., the "does" level of educational models),¹¹ so too should the training of faculty members and preceptors. Therefore, faculty development programmes should include

education and training on workplace-based assessments (WBAs). The Australian Pharmacy Council has defined a WBA as involving "regular observation, feedback and measurement of an individual's ability to conduct day to day tasks and duties".¹² An effective WBA requires users to be competent at the observed task, and familiar with the tools being used, further emphasising the need for faculty members and preceptors to be trained in their use.¹²

WBAs have been used extensively in medical education and include methods such as EPAs), mini-clinical evaluations and case-based discussions.^{1, 3, 5, 9, 11, 13} While WBAs are used primarily in the experiential setting, their application may be a change from prior experiential education training methods.¹⁴ For example, whereas prior experiential training methods may have relied more on role-modelling, the focus on learner-centredness of WBAs allows for customisation of the expected performance level, such as according to the learner's point in an educational programme (eg, by milestone setting) or even by prior experience.^{9, 15}Sharing other benefits, such as the value of locally determined WBAs or EPAs (e.g., the US's "Core EPAs") in providing consistency among students and practitioners, can further help preceptors in appreciating their role.^{9, 16} It is also possible to tie in basic science colleagues in creating and assessing WBAs or EPAs, further demonstrating their applicability to practice.⁹

Whether applying CBE through skills development in early courses or WBAs in the experiential setting, the assessment and feedback and facilitation skills of faculty members and preceptors will take on greater importance.^{4, 15} As mentioned, the individual learner is central to CBE and therefore should be central in the feedback provided. Some have described the level of feedback needed as being that of a "coach", as with sports coaching, where explicit and individual feedback is provided. For success in this, training faculty members and preceptors on enhanced communication and relationship-building skills will be essential, as will training on observation skills.^{4, 15} In the example of EPAs, preceptors will need guidance on changing assessment criteria from traditional grading to notes of supervision level needed or "entrustability".^{9, 13}

6.3 Preceptor development

Preceptorship has been defined by Bartlett *et al* as "the formal arrangement between a practising health professional (the preceptor) and a graduate or student (the preceptee). Within a clinically-related setting, the preceptor supervises, provides guidance and facilitates the socialisation and development of the preceptee into a competent professional fit for practice."¹⁷

The important role played by preceptors to support work-integrated learning is well established. The nature of preceptors' role is varied depending on factors including the setting, the learner and the level and type of feedback required. Some preceptors have demonstrated expertise in use of WBA tools supporting the concept of CBE. However, it cannot be assumed that pharmacy preceptors inherently have the requisite knowledge, skills and attributes. Programmatic assessment literature supports the notion of "sharpening" the people along with the tools. The availability of tool kits, training materials, coaching, etc, is crucial to ensure assessment of competency is valid and supportive to the learner.

A set of preceptor competencies common to the health professions has been identified in the literature.¹⁷ Although these are not specific to CBE, they should inform the necessary training for preceptors working within this learning framework. It has been proposed that these competencies could have a minimum level of performance specified, allowing for more advanced performance to be recognised.¹⁷ This approach has been demonstrated by FIP with an entry level competency framework for pharmacists to support the development of foundation and early-career pharmacists, and the Global Advanced Development Framework to recognise and support more advanced practice.¹⁸ A version of these frameworks adapted to support advancing practice in the education workforce has been developed and will be a useful addition to support academics and preceptors develop the necessary skills to support CBE.⁷

6.4 Implementing training

The systems-based approach of using competency frameworks and accreditation standards can provide the basis for training faculty members and preceptors, as they offer expectation setting, dissemination and guidance, and are designed to meet contemporary needs of the profession, society and learners. They can be adopted and adapted to meet local needs.^{5-7, 16, 19-21}

Programmes may be designed in many ways for faculty and preceptor learners. Use of adult education theory (i.e., social constructivism) provides the need and context for training.^{15, 20} Delivery can vary from live groups (small or large) to online sessions (asynchronous or synchronous). Colleagues have used peer-to-peer learning, while others have adopted the "champion" model, where full-time faculty members serve as advocates (or "champions") of CBE with each other and with practice-based colleagues.^{6, 9, 20}

Challenges to any development programme can occur, because CBE means change. Providing proof of student success, a slow introduction and employment of "champions" may help.^{6, 9} Evaluation of any training programme should be planned to ensure it is continuing to meet the needs of faculty members, preceptors, learners and practice.^{9, 20}

6.5 Summary

Successful implementation of a CBE programme will rely on the successful training of faculty members and preceptors, with a different emphasis needed for each group. Training programmes on CBE should include topics such as educational foundations, CBE essentials and giving feedback in the workplace setting. Developers of training programmes are encouraged to refer to many available tools such as the FIP GCFE, FIP Global Advanced Development Framework and preceptor competencies.^{7, 17, 18} Success and sustainability of any training programme will rely on engaging stakeholders and ongoing evaluation.

References

- 1. Frank, J.R., Snell, L.S., Cate, O.T., et al., Competency-based medical education: theory to practice. Medical Teacher, 2010;32:638-645.
- Rhoney, D.H., Singleton, S., Nelson, N.R., et al., Forces driving change in pharmacy education: Opportunities to take academic, social, technological, economic, and political into the future. Journal of the American College of Clinical Pharmacy, 2021;4:639-651.
- 3. Englander, R., Frank, J.R., Carraccio, C., et al., Toward a shared language for competency-based medical education. Medical Teacher, 2017;39:582-587.
- 4. Holmboe, E.S., Ward, D.S., Reznick, R.K., et al., Faculty development in assessment: the missing link in competencybased medical education. Academic Medicine, 2011;86:460-467.
- 5. Katoue, M.G. and Schwinghammer, T.L., Competency-based education in pharmacy: A review of its development, applications, and challenges. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice, 2020;26:1114-1123.
- 6. Dath, D. and lobst, W., The importance of faculty development in the transition to competency-based medical education. Medical Teacher, 2010;32:683-686.
- 7. International Pharmaceutical Federation. The FIP Global Competency Framework for Educators & Trainers in Pharmacy (FIP-GCFE), Version 1. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2022.
- American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy. 2021-22 American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy Competency-Based Education Joint Task Force White Paper - Prepared June 2022. Arlington, VA: American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy; 2022.
- 9. Pittenger, A.L., Copeland, D.A., Lacroix, M.M., et al., Report of the 2016-17 Academic Affairs Standing Committee: Entrustable Professional Activities Implementation Roadmap. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2017;81:S4.

- 10. Bajis, D., Competency-Based Pharmacy Education and Training in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. 2019, University of Sydney: Sydney.
- 11. Bajis, D., Chaar, B., and Moles, R., Rethinking competence: A nexus of educational models in the context of lifelong learning. Pharmacy, 2020;8:81.
- 12. Australian Pharmacy Council. Workplace-based Assessment. Accessed 2022 29 Sep; Available from: https://www.pharmacycouncil.org.au/workplace-based-assessment/.
- 13. Ten Cate, O., Nuts and bolts of entrustable professional activities. Journal of graduate medical education, 2013;5:157-158.
- 14. Norcini, J. and Burch, V., Workplace-based assessment as an educational tool: AMEE Guide No. 31. Medical teacher, 2007;29:855-871.
- 15. Orr, C.J. and Sonnadara, R.R., Coaching by design: exploring a new approach to faculty development in a competency-based medical education curriculum. Advances in medical education and practice, 2019;10:229.
- 16. Haines, S.T., Pittenger, A.L., Stolte, S.K., et al., Core Entrustable Professional Activities for New Pharmacy Graduates. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2017;81:S2.
- 17. Bartlett, A.D., Um, I.S., Luca, E.J., et al., Measuring and assessing the competencies of preceptors in health professions: a systematic scoping review. BMC Medical Education, 2020;20:1-9.
- International Pharmaceutical Federation. FIP Global Advanced Development Framework: Supporting the advancement of the profession version 1. The Hague:International Pharmaceutical Federation; 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.fip.org/file/4790</u>.
- 19. Cox, C.D., Mulherin, K., and Walter, S., National preceptor development program (PDP) prototype. The third of a 3-part series. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2018;10:298-306.
- 20. Mulherin, K., Walter, S., and Cox, C.D., National preceptor development program (PDP): influential evidence and theory. The first of a 3-part series. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 2018;10:255-266.
- 21. Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education. Accreditation Standards and Key Elements for the Professional Program in Pharmacy Leading to the Doctor of Pharmacy Degree: Standards 2016. Chicago, Illinois:ACPE; 2015.

Chapter 7 Glossary

This glossary summarises the terms and definitions used and referred to in this handbook.

Term	Definition and remarks
Authentic	An assessment format requiring students to use the same competencies, or combinations of knowledge
assessment	skills, and attitudes, that they need to apply in a comparable real-life situation in professional life. ¹
Case-based learning	A form of inquiry-based learning that aims to prepare students for clinical practice, through the use of authentic clinical cases. ²
Clerkship	In healthcare education, a clerkship (or rotation) refers to students' participation in clinical practice during their final year(s) of study.
Cognitive skills	Brain-based skills (abilities, capabilities) needed in acquisition of knowledge, manipulation of information and reasoning. They have more to do with the mechanisms of how people learn, remember, solve problems and pay attention, rather than with actual knowledge.
Competence	The array of abilities across multiple domains or aspects of performance in a certain context. The recently published WHO global competency framework for universal health coverage ³ defines competence as "the state of proficiency of a person to perform the required practice activities to the defined standard. This incorporates having the requisite competencies to do this in a given context. Competence is multidimensional and dynamic. It changes with time, experience and setting." Statements about competence require descriptive qualifiers to define the relevant abilities, context and stage of training.
Competency	Competencies are preferably specified as observable abilities, integrating multiple components such as knowledge, skills, values and attitudes, and expressed as actual behaviour. Because competencies are observable, they can be measured and assessed to ensure that students have acquired them. ⁴ The recently published WHO global competency framework for universal health coverage ³ defines competencies as "the abilities of a person to integrate knowledge, skills and attitudes in their performance of tasks in a given context. Competencies are durable, trainable and, through the expression behaviours, measurable."
Competency-based education	An approach to preparing [health workers] for practice that is fundamentally oriented to outcome abilities and organised according to competencies. It de-emphasises time-based training and facilitates
	greater accountability, flexibility and learner-centredness. ⁵
Competency framework	An organised and structured representation of a set of interrelated and purposeful competencies. ⁶ Each competency is accompanied by behavioural statements or indicators. These behavioural indicators describe measurable behaviours which would be observed when the individual demonstrates the associated competency. ⁷
Constructive alignment	Constructive alignment is a design for teaching in which what students should learn, and how they should express their learning, is clearly stated before teaching takes place. Teaching is then designed to engage students in learning activities that optimise their chances of achieving those learning outcomes, and assessment tasks are designed to enable clear judgements on how well those learning outcomes have been attained. ⁸
	CBE heavily relies on constructivist psychological principles, where students construct meaning from what they do during their learning activities. The role of teachers is to design the teaching-learning environment in such a way that students cannot escape from learning. ⁴
Consultant	A professional (expert, specialist) who provides advice and other purposeful activities in an area of specialisation. In the context of CBE curriculum development, this is a teacher who specialises in a particular aspect of an educational programme, which may be related to discipline content or skills development.
Contact hours	The number of hours in a course or other curriculum element, during which students are actually meeting with other students or teachers.

Course	Building block of a curriculum. When the term "course" is used to describe the whole curriculum, the constituent parts can be indicated as "modules".
	A curriculum usually consists of multiple courses (in addition to other elements, such as rotations), which are offered to students in a logical, layered sequence.
Course development	A group of teachers responsible for the construction and evaluation of a course. If desired and useful,
team	students, educational consultants and managerial assistants can participate.
Course specification	A document, usually produced by a curriculum committee, which specifies the goals, content and organisational limitations of a course.
Curriculum committee	A group of teachers responsible for the design of a curriculum as a whole. If desired and useful, students, educational consultants and managerial assistants can participate.
Curriculum layer	A way of structuring a curriculum in (somewhat arbitrary) layers, where knowledge and skills are
	progressively integrated when students pass from one layer to another (see also "milestone").
	The number of curriculum layers is somewhat arbitrary but can be used to structure a curriculum and to
	define developmental milestones for students, using explicit descriptions of learning outcomes for each layer.
Entrustable	A unit of professional practice that can be fully entrusted to a trainee, once he or she has demonstrated
professional activity	the necessary competence to execute this activity unsupervised. ⁹
	Entrustable professional activities, as units of practice, constitute the description of work that
	operationally defines a profession. They represent a job description, not a person description.
Formative	Assessment for learning, intended to monitor student learning, and to inform teachers and students
assessment	about learning progress. ⁴
	Formative assessment essentially has a feedback purpose and can help students to identify their
	strengths and weaknesses and to identify areas that need additional attention. The results of formative
	assessments can help teachers to identify areas which appear to be problematic for students, and can
	help them to adapt and improve their teaching.
Inquiry-based	A constructivist, active approach to learning driven by questions and complex problems that are open-
learning	ended and that drive the student's need for facts, procedures and guiding principles in order to investigate and find possible answers. ¹⁰
Integration	An operational (umbrella) term used for describing different ways of combining content of different
	disciplines, or of combining content and skills in curricular elements and courses. ¹¹
	Integration can be described as a horizontal, vertical or spiral model. It can also be described by the
	themes used to integrate, such as a systems-based approach or by integrative teaching and learning
	approaches. The level of integration can also be described.
Internship	A period of work experience offered by an organisation for a limited period.
Learning outcome	Observable result of a course, module or other curriculum element, defined in terms of knowledge,
	skills, and behaviour of a student or trainee. ¹²
	Intended learning outcomes are preferably described with action verbs, which indicate the required
	cognitive level. Conditions under which the concrete behaviour is expected to be demonstrated need to
	be specified in the intended learning outcomes.
Milestone	Intermediate stage in the acquirement of competence, used as anchor point in a curriculum and as a
	critical point for assessing whether students are progressing according to expectations ⁴ (see also
	"Curriculum layer").

1

	Progression of students through the curriculum can be guided and monitored by defining intermediate stages in the acquirement of competencies, and can be used to decide whether students are allowed to progress to a next stage of their educational programme.
Module	See "Course".
Theme (overarching)	A way of structuring a curriculum, where aspects or content of courses are repeatedly addressed in courses. Overarching themes are used to clarify relationships between different courses at a relatively high level of abstraction. Overarching themes can be used when designing and constructing a curriculum. Sometimes longitudinal aspects (such as skills development) are communicated to students under the terms "tracks", "lines" or "strands" to offer guidance in progression through the curriculum.
Project-based	Project-based learning is a model that organises learning around projects or complex tasks that involve
learning	students in design, problem-solving, decision making or investigative activities.
	Students have the opportunity to work relatively autonomously over extended periods, and projects culminate in realistic products or presentations. ¹³
Practical skills	Manual and intellectual skills (abilities, capabilities) needed for executing professional activities in pharmacy.
Preceptor	A practising pharmacist who serves as a role model to guide a pharmacy student, preregistration trainee, or resident in the development of their professional knowledge, attitudes and practice skills. ¹⁴
Problem-based	Students learn in small groups by exploring a predetermined problem. The problem is designed to
learning	trigger learning goals for individual students and subsequent group meetings permit students to monitor their learning and to set further learning goals. The tutor's role is to offer support for learning and to help students to reach the expected outcomes.
	Problem-based learning enables students to develop the ability to translate knowledge into practice at an early stage of the curriculum, encourages individual participation in learning and allows the development of teamwork skills.
Programmatic assessment	An approach to assessment, where routine information about the learner's competence and progress is continually collected, analysed and, where needed, complemented with purposively collected additional assessment information. ¹⁵
	A key principle is that individual low-stake (formative) assessment are maximised for learning and feedback value, whereas high-stake (summative) decisions are based on the aggregation of the underlying low-stake assessments.
Programme workload	The total number of hours in a curriculum that are supposed to be needed for delivering an effective and efficient curriculum.
	Programme workload can be estimated from a teaching load allocation model (primary teaching load), supplemented with time allocated for secondary (and tertiary) teaching tasks (direction, evaluation, educational research) and professionalisation activities.
Rotation	See "Clerkship".
Sequencing	A way of structuring a curriculum, where courses and other curricular elements are ordered in sequence in such a way that students can follow the programme in a logical way, which enables progressive development and acquirement of competence.
Simulation	An array of structured activities representing actual or potential situations in education and practice. These activities allow participants to develop or enhance their knowledge, skills and attitudes or analyse and respond to realistic situations in a simulated environment. ¹⁶

Specialisation	A formal differentiation within, or subsequent to, a degree programme, which leads to an area of work with advanced responsibilities.
	In the context of entry-level pharmacy education, specialisation during the undergraduate period is uncommon. Specialisation as a hospital or community pharmacist is a postgraduate activity.
Spiral curriculum	A spiral curriculum is one in which there is an iterative revisiting of topics, subjects or themes throughout the course. ¹⁷
	It is not simply the repetition of a topic taught. It requires also a deepening understanding of it, with each successive encounter building on the previous one.
Stakeholder	An individual, group or organisation that can be impacted by the outcome of a project. Stakeholders
	have an interest in the success of a project and can be within or outside the organisation responsible for executing the project.
	In the context of CBE curriculum development students, stakeholders are teachers and pharmacy professionals inside and outside the institution (school, faculty).
Student workload	The number of hours in a course or other curriculum element which students are supposed to spend on studying, including the number of contact hours.
	Student workload can only be estimated in the design phase of a course (based on experience) and may turn out to be highly variable between students when measured.
Summative	Assessment of learning. comparing it to some standard or benchmark. The purpose of summative
assessment	assessments in a curriculum is to guarantee that each individual student has fulfilled the curricular requirements. ⁴
	In the context of CBE, the total of summative assessments is supposed to be representative for all required competencies.
Teacher workload	The number of hours in a course or other curriculum element which teachers are supposed to need for preparing, presenting and administering their teaching tasks.
	Teacher workload can only be estimated in the design phase of a course (based on a teaching load allocation model) and may turn out to be highly variable between students when investigated.
Teaching-learning environment	All aspects of the designed curriculum, including student tasks, assessments, organisation and teacher roles. ¹²
	The learning of students is not only influenced by their perception of the assessment tasks, but also by the way teaching is delivered, by teacher behaviour, and by the rules and regulations which pertain to
	the curriculum. An effective teaching-learning environment is designed in such a way that students are motivated for deep, self-regulated learning.
Team-based learning	An active learning and small group instructional strategy that provides students with opportunities to apply conceptual knowledge through a sequence of activities that includes individual work, teamwork and immediate feedback. ^{18, 19}
	Team-based learning involves a specific sequence of individual preparation, individual and team readiness assurance tests, and team assignments.

References

- 1. Croft, H., Gilligan, C., Rasiah, R., et al., Current Trends and Opportunities for Competency Assessment in Pharmacy Education–A Literature Review. Pharmacy, 2019;7:67.
- 2. Thistlethwaite, J.E., Davies, D., Ekeocha, S., et al., The effectiveness of case-based learning in health professional education. A BEME systematic review: BEME Guide No. 23. Medical teacher, 2012;34:e421-e444.
- 3. World Health Organization. Global Competency Framework for Universal Health Coverage. Geneva:World Health Organization; 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240034686.
- 4. Koster, A., Schalekamp, T., and Meijerman, I., Implementation of Competency-Based Pharmacy Education (CBPE). Pharmacy, 2017;5:10.

- 5. Frank, J.R., Mungroo, R., Ahmad, Y., et al., Toward a definition of competency-based education in medicine: a systematic review of published definitions. Medical Teacher, 2010;32:631-637.
- 6. Englander, R., Frank, J.R., Carraccio, C., et al., Toward a shared language for competency-based medical education. Medical Teacher, 2017;39:582-587.
- 7. Mills, E., Farmer, D., Bates, I., et al., Development of an evidence-led competency framework for primary care and community pharmacists. Pharmaceutical Journal, 2005;275:48-52.
- 8. Biggs, J., Enhancing Teaching through Constructive Alignment. Higher Education, 1996;32:347-364.
- 9. Ten Cate, O. and Taylor, D.R., The recommended description of an entrustable professional activity: AMEE Guide No. 140. Medical Teacher, 2021;43:1106-1114.
- 10. Spronken-Smith, R. Experiencing the process of knowledge creation: The nature and use of inquiry-based learning in higher education. in International Colloquium on Practices for Academic Inquiry. 2012. University of Otago.
- 11. Kerr, A., O'Connor, H., Pawlikowska, T., et al., A scoping review of health professional curricula: Implications for developing integration in pharmacy. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 2020;16:1-16.
- 12. Biggs, J.B. and Tang, C.S., Teaching for Quality Learning at University (4th ed.). Maidenhead: Open University Press; 2011.
- 13. Thomas, J.W. A review of research on project-based learning. San Rafael, CA:Autodesk Foundation; 2000. Available from: <u>https://www.asec.purdue.edu/lct/HBCU/documents/AReviewofResearchofProject-BasedLearning.pdf</u>.
- 14. Knott, G.J., Mylrea, M.F., and Glass, B.D., A Scoping Review of Pharmacy Preceptor Training Programs. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2020;84:ajpe8039.
- 15. van der Vleuten, C.P., Schuwirth, L., Driessen, E., et al., A model for programmatic assessment fit for purpose. Medical teacher, 2012;34:205-214.
- 16. Korayem, G.B., Alshaya, O.A., Kurdi, S.M., et al., Simulation-Based Education Implementation in Pharmacy Curriculum: A Review of the Current Status. Advances in medical education and practice, 2022;13:649.
- 17. Harden, R.M. and Stamper, N., What is a spiral curriculum? Medical Teacher, 1999;21:141-143.
- 18. Parmelee, D., Michaelsen, L.K., Cook, S., et al., Team-based learning: A practical guide: AMEE Guide No. 65. Medical Teacher, 2012;34:e275-e287.
- 19. Burgess, A., van Diggele, C., Roberts, C., et al., Team-based learning: design, facilitation and participation. BMC Medical Education, 2020;20:1-7.
Appendix

Design of a course "Drug binding and action"

By Andries S. Koster, associate professor of pharmacology, Utrecht University, The Netherlands

This appendix illustrates the "translation" of a course specification, written by a curriculum committee, into a course design and schedule. The specification document (see Box) describes the desired content of the course and the position within the overall curriculum structure; the schematic representation below shows the course as designed by the course development team on the basis of this instruction.

Positioning: At the end of the first year of the BSc in Pharmacy curriculum (at Utrecht University) students need to learn the main concepts related to the interaction of small molecules with binding proteins. The course, entitled "Drug binding and action", is placed in the second layer of the curriculum spiral (see Section 4.3). Students have been exposed to the chemical structure and physicochemical properties of both small molecules and proteins in previous courses (first curriculum layer).

Additional information: During development of this curriculum, skills and disciplinary content were analysed, divided in different levels and described in detail in order to maintain consistency and to structure longitudinal lines within the curriculum. Specification of these longitudinal lines (skills and disciplinary content) and their relevance for this course are described in the specification (in italic type).

Example of a course development specification

Course title:	Drug binding and action	Course
Study load:	10 weeks, 50% (200 hours)	a a al a
Chairperson, coordinator:	name1, name2	code
Disciplines involved:	Medicinal chemistry, Pharmacology, Psychopharmacology	Fa-200

Course goals/outcomes

At the end of the course the student is able to:

- Describe the interaction between low-molecular weight ligands and macromolecular binding sites (enzymes, receptors) in terms of the Law of Mass Action;
- Describe and analyse the results of enzyme kinetic, receptor binding and pharmacological experiments using customary graphical representations;
- Draw conclusions from these graphical representations with respect to affinity and activity of the ligands, distinguishing between competition/inhibition and agonism/antagonism;
- Understand covalent and non-covalent interactions and enzymatic reactions in molecular detail as part of the key-lock concept; and
- Use the concepts selectivity and specificity correctly.

Content

Interaction between low-molecular weight ligands and receptors (s.l.) results from the Law of Mass Action, which describes the relationship between concentration and an "effect". The effect varies with the measuring system and the extent to which the ligand can initiate a measurable effect:

- enzymatic conversion, c.q. inhibition of an enzyme (metabolism);
- receptor binding, c.q. inhibition of binding (receptor binding);
- pharmacological effect (agonism), c.q. antagonism (pharmacology).

Ligands can interact with one or more receptors (specificity, selectivity), where affinity (K_M, K_D, EC₅₀, etc) and intrinsic activity are determining whether an effect can be observed and whether an interaction between ligands can be characterised as competitive or non-competitive. Usual graphical representations (Lineweaver-Burke, Eadie-Hofstee, Scatchard, log-dose response curve) are different, while the underlying theory is similar. Students are expected to be able to recognise the similarities and to think in terms of affinity and intrinsic activity. In this course only the 1-binding site model is taken into account.

The molecular basis of reaction (chymotrypsin) and interaction (β 2-receptor) are studied. Small groups of students will compile a receptor-dossier (analogous to the medicine dossier in course Fa-201). Practical experiments will be protein-binding and enzymatic conversion.

Parts of lab sessions from (existing) courses 1.4. and 2.2 can be reused. The practical experiments can be based on earlier pharmacology and medicinal chemistry courses.

Relations with other courses

In course Fa-102 (Molecular properties) the relation between structure and physicochemical properties of low molecular weight compounds has been studied; protein structure (enzymes, receptors) has been studied in course Fa-103. This course is essential as a preparation for all level-2 courses (*e.g.* biotechnology, GPCR-receptors). Course Fa-200 is also open for chemistry and biomedical sciences students.

Educational formats

Students are expected to master a difficult (threshold) concept; a relatively large part of the course needs to be dedicated to the mental construction of the concepts. This implies workshops/lab sessions, supported by calculations and simulations. Using the Four Components Instructional Design (4CID) model can be considered. The receptor dossier is organised as a small-group project.

Disciplinary content

Biomolecular chemistry, level-2: The student is able to relate the structure of a medicine to the structure of the receptor.

Pharmacodynamics, level-1: The student is knowledgeable about protein targets of medicines and understands the relationship between structure and interactions. The student has mastered quantitative aspects of receptor binding.

Biotechnology, level-1: The student becomes acquainted with protein-protein interactions and post-translational modifications.

Skills

Informatics, level-1: searching for structures and properties of proteins and ligand-receptor complexes (Protein Data Bank)

Calculations, level-1: dilutions, graphical representations, simulations.

Oral communication, level-1: At least 25% of the students will be able to give a short presentation that can be evaluated.

Laboratory skills, level-1: weighing, dilutions, interaction experiment.

Portfolio

Oral communication, level-1: Part of the students will present in this course; the evaluation will be part of their portfolio. If insufficient, additional training and re-evaluation is organised by the skills lab.

Assessment

Testing will be individual, in writing, and must be aimed at the application of concepts and methods of this course in different and new contexts. The receptor dossier is valued as a group assignment, max. 30% of the

course grade. Calculation ability can be tested using WebCT (i.e., an online testing environment) and is recorded in the portfolio.

Timeslot/contact hours

Timeslot AD (i.e., a local time slot code), 30% contact time maximally.

Human resources

With 200 participating students 800 teaching hours (0.5 fte) maximally. Group size 12 students maximally for small-group activities.

Financial resources

2,500 Euro budget (consumables); standard lab facilities are available.

Course description: The course development team decided to structure the course along two main conceptual lines ("drug binding" and "drug action"). In weeks one to four, attention is given only to drug binding (green colour in the diagram below), where relevant theory is treated in plenary lectures and associated calculations are practised in interspersed workshops and lab sessions. This part ends with an instructional workshop on the retrieval and analysis of binding complexes from the Protein Data Bank, and a short individual test, aimed at testing students' numerical calculation abilities (mass/volume to concentration conversions, dilutions, etc). A protein binding experiment (binding of sulfafurazole analogues to Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)) is used to integrate calculations, dilutions and interpretation of data within a laboratory experiment. The practical setup was modified from an existing "cookbook" experiment: in the new design, students have to write their own experimental protocol (based on estimated dissociation constants), including the weighing and dilution of chemicals and the listing of a pipetting schedule. The experiment is carried out as an equilibrium experiment in Eppendorf cups, where free ligand concentrations are measured at the end of the incubation period. During this full day experiment the largest part of the day is spent on preparation and calculations (dilution of stock solutions, pipetting schedule) and on converting measurement results to graphical representations (binding isotherms and Scatchard plots).

The second part of the course is dedicated to drug action (pink colour below), which follows essentially the same pattern as the first part, but now concentrates on enzyme kinetics and pharmacology. Enzymatic hydrolysis of p-nitrophenol by alkaline phosphatase is used as a practical integration tool; in this case, interaction patterns of competitive and noncompetitive ligands have to be analysed by Lineweaver-Burke and Eadie-Hofstee plots.

Overall integration of the binding and action characteristics of drugs is achieved by compiling a receptor dossier (blue colour below): groups of five students collaborate in collecting and describing data of one particular drug (of their choice), starting with a description of the molecular interactions within the drug binding pocket and ending with a description of the pharmacological mechanism of action of the drug. Results are presented to other students during an oral communication session with slide presentations. The final test of the course is aimed at testing application of the relevant concepts to drugs that have not been studied during the course. A final grade is calculated from individual results in the mid-course test (5%), the end-of-course test (70%), the lab reports (group product: 5%), and the receptor dossier (group product: 20%). The result of the mid-course test (calculations) and evaluations of presentations are collected in the student's portfolio.

In this course, integration is achieved at different levels. Theory (plenary lectures) is directly used in calculations and exercises during subsequent workshop and lab sessions. In the practical experiment, the calculations and graphical presentations have to be applied in the context of designing and analysing the results of a relatively simple laboratory experiment. Cognitive integration is further enhanced by applying the concepts in compiling the data of one particular drug in the receptor dossier. Efficient guidance is realised by each group of students having the same teacher during all group activities (workshops and lab sessions, experiments and dossier meetings). Teachers for this course are recruited from the departments of medicinal chemistry, pharmacology and psychopharmacology.

Course outline of "Drug binding and action"



Integrated course for Pharmacy, Chemistry and Biomedical Sciences student, 10 weeks, 20h/week, total study load 200 hours, 64 contact hours (32%)

International Pharmaceutical Federation

Fédération Internationale Pharmaceutique

Andries Bickerweg 5 2517 JP The Hague The Netherlands

T +31 (0)70 302 19 70 F +31 (0)70 302 19 99 fip@fip.org

www.fip.org

| FIP 2022.